

C. SHANE HUNT • JOHN E. MELLO • GEORGE D. DEITZ

# Marketing, 4e

Shane Hunt John Mello George Deitz



Mc Graw Hill

FOURTH EDITION

## **Table of Contents**

Message from the Authors	2
Personal Brand Development	3
Integration of Key Topics and the Right Content.	4
Table of Contents	7
About the Authors	8
Preface	11
McGraw Hill Connect	13
Asset Alignment with Blooms Taxonomy	15
Sample Chapter 3	. 42
Support at Every Step	73
Thank You	. 74

# Graw CONNECt<sup>®</sup> Marketing

# **Message from the Authors**

# Hello and Welcome to our Digital Sneak Peek of Marketing 4e!

#### We can't wait to share some of the updates of our latest release with you!

If you are like us, you have probably had students (particularly non-marketing majors) ask you, "Why does this course matter to me?" The answer is simple: **because everyone is a marketer!** We designed our product to emphasize the universal importance of marketing—not only in business, or in the future, but to students today.

Marketing has changed dramatically in the past several years due to factors ranging from the pandemic to inflation and this new edition provides students the content and tools to succeed in this rapidly changing environment.

Here are just a few ways that our product is unique:

- **Career Focus,** to help students understand how marketing will support whatever career path they choose in the future and help them to develop and evolve their own personal brand now.
- >>> Integration of key topics that are part of the daily fabric of marketing— globalization, social media, ethics, and marketing analytics are found throughout the product.
- >>> Dynamic Video Cases featuring a wide variety of organizations from the National Park Service to Hershey and from a Minor League Baseball team to a Commercial Real Estate firm, all showcase the marketing strategy and decisions behind products, companies and services that are a part of students' daily lives.
- **Marketing Analytics Exercises** available in every chapter! These help students develop their skills and confidence in meeting modern day marketing challenges.
- Seamlessly integrated **results-driven technology** developed alongside the narrative for close linkage and alignment down to the specific learning objective.
- The **right amount of content** for a semester-long course. Our chapters are direct, approachable and written with an energetic, vibrant tone to engage today's students.
- Flexible and Accessible. Our product is available through Connect, SmartBook 2.0 and the new Read Anywhere eBook app. This flexibility and accessibility allow all students to access the content anytime, anywhere. The 4th edition features new Connect exercises for students in every Chapter to help them succeed in the modern marketing environment. Then continue with In Addition, we have added new episodes to McGraw Hill's Marketing Insights podcast series to correspond with many of our Executive Insights. Check it out on Apple Pocasts, Spotify, Google Podcasts and more.



We hope you will take a closer look at how Marketing 4e engages your students. We thank you for your consideration and support. Please don't hesitate to reach out to us with any comments, suggestions or requests. We look forward to visiting soon!

#### Shane Hunt | John Mello | George Deitz



# **Career & Personal Brand Development**



# **Focus on Career & Personal Brand Development**

- **Career Tips** offer chapter-related ideas that can help students develop their own **personal brand**—a theme carried throughout.
- **Executive Perspective Interviews** illustrate the need for successful leaders in any organization to be effective marketers. These interviews represent a wide range of undergraduate majors, including finance, engineering, operations, and accounting.
- **Today's Professional Interviews** highlight young marketing professionals who describe how developing their personal brand has helped advance their careers.
- >>> In the **Personal Marketing Plan Exercise** threaded throughout, students apply the elements of a marketing plan in the context of marketing themselves. This project brings a marketing plan to life in a way that personally engages students.
- >> New Marketing Insights Podcast Series featuring content from the authors, some executives featured in the product, and other marketers from education and industry.

# Graw CONNECt<sup>®</sup> Marketing

# **Integration of Key Topics and The Right Content**





Because students won't find "Ethics Tuesdays," "Global Thursdays," or "Social Media Fridays" in their careers, *Marketing 4e* integrates key topics like ethics, globalization, social media, and marketing analytics throughout. This allows the program to deliver a fully rounded view and ensure students gain knowledge and skills across all essential aspects of marketing.

#### **The Right Content**

We designed our chapters to include the most valuable content for a Principles of Marketing course. Chapters are direct, concise, and approachable in length. The chapters allow a bit of classroom "breathing time" for the discussions and activities that bring marketing alive for you and your students.

#### "Because Everyone Is a Marketer . . . "

Our goal is to build the best possible principles of marketing product—one that captures the importance of marketing in a way that is relevant and adaptable to today's business students.



Add, remove, and organize content to fit your course goals with McGraw Hill's CREATE custom system. Log into your instructor account at <u>create.mheducation.com</u> to begin building YOUR custom product.

C. SHANE HUNT · JOHN E. MELLO · GEORGE D. DEITZ

# BECAUSE EVERYONE IS A MARKETER





FOURTH EDITION

# Marketing Fourth Edition

**C. Shane Hunt** Idaho State University

John E. Mello Arkansas State University

George D. Deitz University of Memphis



# **BRIEF CONTENTS**

Preface ix Chapter-by-Chapter Changes in the Fourth Edition xv Acknowledgments xviii

# PART ONE Marketing in the Twenty-First Century 1

- 1 Why Marketing Matters to You 2
- 2 Strategic Planning 28 Appendix 2A Sample Marketing Plan 58
- 3 The Global Environment 70

# PART **TWO** Understanding Your Customer 101

- 4 Consumer Behavior 102
- 5 Marketing Research and Analytics 146
- 6 Product Development 186
- 7 Segmentation, Targeting, and Positioning 222

# PART THREE Reaching Your Customer 253

- 8 Promotional Strategies 254
- 9 Personal Selling 286
- 10 Supply Chain and Logistics Management 326
- 11 Pricing 360
- 12 Retailing 390
- 13 Digital and Social Media Marketing 432

## PART FOUR Responding to Your Customer 471

- 14 Branding 472
- 15 Customer Relationship Management 500
- 16 Social Responsibility and Sustainability 534

Appendix: Sample Marketing Plan 568 Glossary 579 Company Index 591 Name Index 597 Subject Index 603

# HELLO, MY NAME IS . . .



Shane Hunt

# C. Shane Hunt

Dr. C. Shane Hunt received his PhD in marketing from Oklahoma State University. Shane has won numerous awards for his teaching, including the 2010 National Inspire Integrity Award from the National Society of Collegiate Scholars, the 2010 Lt. Col. Barney Smith Award as Professor of the Year at Arkansas State University, the 2011 Excellence in Undergraduate Teaching Award, the 2015 Honors Professor of the Year Award, and the 2019 National Teaching Innovation Award presented by the Association of Collegiate Marketing Educators.

Shane's research has appeared in the *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, the *Journal of Business Logistics*, and other leading marketing journals. He has presented to numerous organizations including the American Marketing Association and the National Conference in Sales Management.

After completing his MBA degree, Shane went to work for a Fortune 500 company in Tulsa, Oklahoma, and spent eight years working as a pricing analyst, product manager, and business development manager overseeing numerous strategic initiatives. In addition to his role as a professor, Shane also serves as a consultant, speaker, and board member for businesses and nonprofit organizations across the country.

Shane is now the Dean of the College of Business and Michael C. Ruettgers Professor of Marketing at Idaho State University. He lives in Pocatello, ID, with his wife, Jenifer, and their two children, Andrew and Sarah.



John E. Mello

# John E. Mello

John E. Mello (PhD Tennessee) is a Professor of Supply Chain Management and Director, Center for Supply Chain Management, Arkansas State University. Prior to entering academia, he spent 28 years in the consumer packaged goods industry in various supply chain management positions. He is the Neil Griffin College of Business Excellence in Graduate Teaching award winner for 2012 and 2018, and Excellence in Research for 2014. His research has been published in *Foresight: The International Journal of Applied Forecasting, Journal of Business Forecasting, Journal of Business Logistics, Journal of Supply Chain Management, International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, International Journal of Logistics Management, and Transportation Journal, Transportation Research Part E.* 



Dr. George D. Deitz completed his PhD in marketing at the University of Alabama. He is currently the George Johnson Professor in Marketing at the University of Memphis. George has enjoyed the opportunity to teach a wide variety of face-to-face and online courses at the undergraduate, MBA, and doctoral levels.

In 2013, George helped found the Consumer Neuroscience Research Laboratory (C-NRL) at Memphis, with the mission of advancing the use of physiological and neurological measurement systems to the study of marketing research questions. His research has been published in *Journal of Service Research, Journal of Business Venturing, Journal of Public Policy and Marketing,* the *Journal of Advertising Research, Journal of Business Logistics,* and other leading marketing journals. He has presented at a number of different conferences, including the American Marketing Association and the Academy of Marketing Science.

After obtaining his master's degree at West Virginia University, George began his professional career working in college athletic administration at the United States Military Academy at West Point, New York. Following that, he spent nearly a decade working in a variety of sales and sales management roles with several start-up ventures in the software industry.

George currently lives in Germantown, Tennessee, with his wife, Kristine. They have three children, Luke, Mark, and Koren.



George D. Deitz



# PREFACE

Hello and welcome to Hunt, Mello, and Deitz's *Marketing* 4e. Students, particularly non-marketing majors, want to know, *"Why does this course matter to me?"* We designed our product to emphasize the universal importance of marketing . . . *because everyone is a marketer.* 

We designed this product with an emphasis on student engagement and relevance, a focus embodied in these four key benefits:

- A career focus, to help students understand how marketing will support whatever career path they choose and how to develop their own *personal brand*.
- **Integration of key topics** that are part of the daily fabric of marketing–globalization, social media, ethics, and marketing analytics.
- Seamlessly integrated results-driven technology.
- The **right content** for a semester-long course.

# **Career Focus**

The goal of higher education for most students, whatever their major, is to develop knowledge that can be put to use in productive careers. We've included features that focus on careers:

- *Executive Perspective interviews* illustrate the need for successful leaders in any organization to be effective marketers. These interviews represent a wide range of undergraduate majors, including finance, engineering, operations, and accounting.
- *Today's Professional interviews* highlight young marketing professionals who describe how developing their personal brand has helped advance their careers.
- *Career Tips* offer chapter-related ideas that can help students develop their own *personal brand*—a theme carried throughout.
- In the *Marketing Plan Exercise* threaded throughout, students apply the elements of a marketing plan in the context of *marketing themselves*. This project brings a marketing plan to life in a way that personally engages students.
- *Marketing Insights* Podcast Series featuring content from the authors and executives profiles throughout the textbook.

# **Integration of Key Topics**

Students won't find "Ethics Tuesdays," "Global Thursdays," or "Social Media Fridays" in their careers. Therefore, we chose to integrate the key topics of *ethics, globalization, social media,* and *marketing analytics* into chapter discussions where relevant. Integration of these four key topics efficiently delivers a fully rounded, three-dimensional view of each chapter topic, to help ensure that students are gaining sufficient knowledge and skills in these essential aspects of marketing.

# **Results-Driven Technology**

This product is "digital-first," built from the ground up to integrate digital content seamlessly. We wrote the narrative and the digital content simultaneously, dovetailing print and digital delivery in McGraw Hill's *results-driven technology* platform. The close linkage of chapter content and *Connect* assignments allows students to practice how to use classroom content to inform marketing decisions.





### **The Right Content**

We designed our chapters to include the most valuable content for a Principles of Marketing course. Chapters are direct, concise, and approachable in length. We don't overburden students (or instructors) with content that is more appropriate in advanced marketing courses. The chapters allow a bit of classroom "breathing time" for the discussions and activities that bring marketing alive for you and your students.

In addition, we've used market feedback to revise the existing chapters, as outlined in the section Chapter-by-Chapter Changes in the Fourth Edition. Content changes in the fourth edition add increased depth or breadth—more rigor where requested or fresh coverage of emerging areas of importance to marketing theory and practice.

#### "Because Everyone Is a Marketer . . ."

Our goal is to build the best-possible principles of marketing product—one that captures the importance of marketing in a way that is relevant and adaptable to today's business students. Understanding and utilizing marketing to improve for-profit businesses, nonprofit organizations, and students' career prospects are critical educational activities. These activities are relevant to *any student*, regardless of his or her area of focus. We have worked to produce an integrated print and digital experience that will inspire students to explore and apply the marketing experiences they need in order to leave your course prepared for future coursework and for careers.

It is our sincere hope that *Marketing* 4e will engage your students and demonstrate the universal importance of marketing . . . *because everyone is a marketer!* 

**C. Shane Hunt** *Idaho State University* 

John E. Mello Arkansas State University

George D. Deitz The University of Memphis





# **Instructors** The Power of Connections

# A complete course platform

Connect enables you to build deeper connections with your students through cohesive digital content and tools, creating engaging learning experiences. We are committed to providing you with the right resources and tools to support all your students along their personal learning journeys. 65% Less Time Grading



Laptop: Getty Images; Woman/dog: George Doyle/Getty Images

# Every learner is unique

In Connect, instructors can assign an adaptive reading experience with SmartBook<sup>®</sup> 2.0. Rooted in advanced learning science principles, SmartBook 2.0 delivers each student a personalized experience, focusing students on their learning gaps, ensuring that the time they spend studying is time well-spent. **mheducation.com/highered/connect/smartbook** 

# Affordable solutions, added value

Make technology work for you with LMS integration for single sign-on access, mobile access to the digital textbook, and reports to quickly show you how each of your students is doing. And with our Inclusive Access program, you can provide all these tools at the lowest available market price to your students. Ask your McGraw Hill representative for more information.

# Solutions for your challenges

A product isn't a solution. Real solutions are affordable, reliable, and come with training and ongoing support when you need it and how you want it. Visit **supportateverystep.com** for videos and resources both you and your students can use throughout the term.



# **Students** Get Learning that Fits You

# Effective tools for efficient studying

Connect is designed to help you be more productive with simple, flexible, intuitive tools that maximize your study time and meet your individual learning needs. Get learning that works for you with Connect.

# Study anytime, anywhere

Download the free ReadAnywhere® app and access your online eBook, SmartBook® 2.0, or Adaptive Learning Assignments when it's convenient, even if you're offline. And since the app automatically syncs with your Connect account, all of your work is available every time you open it. Find out more at **mheducation.com/readanywhere** 



*"I really liked this app—it made it easy to study when you don't have your textbook in front of you."* 

- Jordan Cunningham, Eastern Washington University

iPhone: Getty Images



# Everything you need in one place

Your Connect course has everything you need—whether reading your digital eBook or completing assignments for class—Connect makes it easy to get your work done.

# Learning for everyone

McGraw Hill works directly with Accessibility Services Departments and faculty to meet the learning needs of all students. Please contact your Accessibility Services Office and ask them to email accessibility@mheducation.com, or visit **mheducation.com/about/accessibility** for more information.





# Asset Alignment with Bloom's Taxonomy

**Principles of Marketing** 

#### We Take Students Higher

As a learning science company, we create content that supports higher order thinking skills. Within McGraw Hill Connect<sup>®</sup>, we tag content accordingly so you can filter your search, assign it, and receive reporting on it. These content asset types can be associated with one or more levels of Bloom's.

The chart below shows a few of the key assignable marketing assets with Connect aligned with Bloom's Taxonomy. Take your students higher by assigning a variety of applications, moving them from simple memorization to concept application.



# SmartBook 2.0

Smartbook 2.0 personalizes learning to individual student needs; continually adapting to pinpoint knowledge gaps and focus learning on concepts requiring additional study.

# **Click & Drag**

These activities help make the connection between theory and application through matching, ranking, or grouping activities.

# **iSeeit! Video Cases**

Short, contemporary videos provide engaging, animated introductions to key course concepts. Available at the topic level. Perfect for launching lectures and assigning as pre-or post-lecture.

# Video Cases & Case Analyses Toolkits

Video cases and case analyses, featuring real companies, are assignable with corresponding comprehension questions that help students analyze and apply key marketing concepts.

# **Marketing Analytics**

These auto-graded, marketing analytics activities challenge students to make decisions using metrics commonly seen across marketing professions. The goal of these activities is to give students practice analyzing and using marketing data to make decisions.

# **Markeing Plan Prep Exercises**

These exercises use guided activities and examples to help students understand and differentiate the various elements of a marketing plan.

# **Application-Based Activities**

Highly interactive, application-based activities immerse students in real-world business environments. Placed in the role of a Marketing Manager or business professional, students are challenged to make data-informed decisions and apply multiple concepts while seeing the impact of their decisions immediately.

# Writing Assignment Plus

Writing Assignment Plus delivers a learning experience that helps students improve their written communication skills and conceptual understanding. Faculty can assign, monitor, grade, and provide feedback on writing projects efficiently. Built-in grammar and writing review helps students improve writing quality while an originality check helps students correct potential plagiarism before submission. End result? Improved workplace skills of writing and critical thinking.

#### Preface

# CHAPTER-BY-CHAPTER CHANGES IN THE FOURTH EDITION

The fourth edition's revisions are driven by feedback from instructors and students.

#### **Overall**

- The content and examples in *Marketing* 4e were revised and added with a keen eye toward diversity, equity, and inclusion in an effort to ensure it is reflecting the diverse marketing environment around us.
- New executive perspectives and today's professional profiles throughout that will help students understand how everyone is a marketer.
- New examples of organizations across industries that utilized marketing strategy to successfully navigate the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.
- New examples highlighting the role of marketing in a rapidly changing world.
- Four NEW video cases featuring how marketing is impacting dynamic organizations in industries ranging from credit unions to minor league baseball to commercial real estate.

#### **Chapter 1: Why Marketing Matters to You**

- New examples and discussion on the impact of social media on modern marketing.
- New figures and exhibits highlighting the rapidly changing marketing landscape
- Updated global business/trade statistics.
- New Executive Perspective profile.
- New Today's Professional profile.

#### Chapter 2: Strategic Planning

- New Executive Perspective profile.
- New Social Media in Action Exercise featuring Little Caesars Pizza and TikTok.
- Updated data throughout the chapter including new presentation of auto manufacturers' market share.
- New Today's Professional profile.

#### **Chapter 3: The Global Environment**

- New discussion on the marketing impact of COVID-19.
- New Figure 3.2 on changes to income distribution and Figure 3.3 on the relationship between consumer confidence and consumption.
- New Executive Perspective and New Today's Professional profiles.
- New examples and discussion about inflation, trade agreements, and external environmental factors.

#### Chapter 4: Consumer Behavior

- Deeper discussion of situational influences on decision making, with new subsections and corresponding examples relating how consumers' physical surroundings, social surroundings, time, and task definition impact decisions.
- Revised section on cultural influences, including new subsections on consumptions subcultures, brand communities, and consumer tribes.





- New examples throughout the chapter, including model and lifestyle social media influencer Karlee Kloss and discussion of how consumer demand for electric vehicle batteries creates derived demand for the mineral cobalt.
- New Executive Perspective and Today's Professional profiles.

#### **Chapter 5: Marketing Research and Analytics**

- Enriched discussion of Big Data and the use of predictive analytics models in marketing decision making.
- More types and examples of secondary data sources.
- Much broader coverage and deeper elaboration on qualitative research methods, including examples of their application in marketing contexts.
- New discussion of the emergence of customer journey mapping as an important marketing research application trend.

#### **Chapter 6: Product Development**

- Discussion of the positive impact of new product development in fighting COVID-19.
- New examples and discussion of services, differentiating them from products, and why this is important to the subject of NPD.
- New Today's Professional profile.

#### Chapter 7: Segmentation, Targeting, and Positioning

- New Executive Perspective profile.
- Discussion of how COVID-19 impacted market targeting including examples of consumers dramatically increasing spending on their pets.
- New examples and updated figures throughout.

#### **Chapter 8: Promotional Strategies**

- Expanded coverage of changes in advertising and product placement.
- New discussion on using video games as a promotional tool.
- New Today's Professional profile.
- New examples throughout, including the expanding impact of social media on organizations' promotional strategies.

#### **Chapter 9: Personal Selling**

- Revised section on sales technology, including enhanced discussion of CRM in sales, a new post-COVID-19 section on the rise of virtual selling, and updates on best practices in social selling.
- Introduced new content on the role of the psychological trait "grit" in preserving a salesperson's positive self concept.
- Revised overview on the various types of sales roles, including new sections on customer success managers and sales operations support roles.
- New Executive Perspective profile.

#### Chapter 10: Supply Chain and Logistics Management

- Discussion of supply chain disruptions due to COVID-19.
- New examples and organization of supply chain management section around the topics of supply chain integration, resilience of supply chains, and logistics operations.

- Preface
- Explanation of the importance of internal and external collaboration to supply chain management.
- New Executive Perspective.

#### Chapter 11: Pricing

- New Executive Perspective.
- Expanded discussion on the marketing impact of recent tariffs.
- New examples, including a discussion of pricing strategy for streaming services.

#### Chapter 12: Retailing

- Streamlined discussion of retailer types, with new examples and details on the impact of COVID-19 on selected retail categories.
- New and improved section on key trends in modern retail, with new content and examples on retail analytics, competing on customer experience, and retail technology applications, including artificial intelligence (AI), voice-activated search, geofencing, and VR/AR.
- Revised discussion of omnichannel retailing, including retailer response to the pandemic via introduction of buy-online-purchase-in-store (BOPIS) and curbside delivery services.
- New Today's Professional profile.

#### Chapter 13: Digital and Social Media Marketing

- Digital and social media marketing practices are fast-paced and constantly changing. We've updated content and examples throughout the chapter.
- Expanded social media marketing section, including discussion of marketers increased use of niche "SoMe" social media platforms.
- Enriched discussion of digital and social media analytics, detailing common KPIs for measuring search, content, website, and social media marketing performance.
- New Marketing Plan exercise designed to help students incorporate experts' best practices into their personal LinkedIn profiles.

#### Chapter 14: Branding

- Expanded discussion of the role of social media in branding.
- New Video Case featuring Idaho Central Credit Union.
- Updated Table 14.2, the top 10 most valuable global brands.

#### Chapter 15: Customer Relationship Management

- Updated list of companies that enjoy the highest customer experience ratings.
- Addition of the concept of a "breakpoint" in customer service as an unethical CRM practice.
- New Today's Professional profile.

#### Chapter 16: Social Responsibility and Sustainability

- Expanded "Ethical Dimensions" section that focuses on the goals of designing and producing new products ethically.
- New examples discussing sustainability issues with supply chain management.
- Addition of ethical and sustainability issues in new product development.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are deeply indebted to the many marketing scholars and instructors, business leaders and professionals, and colleagues and friends who have contributed their time, ideas, and insights to the development of this product. We appreciate your help and your shared passion for maximizing the educational experience of our students and future leaders.

#### **Special Thanks to Our Reviewers**

Reviewers who provided feedback that was essential to the development of the fourth edition and previous editions include:

Praveen Aggarwal, University of Minnesota, Duluth

Raj Agnihotri, University of Texas at Arlington

Bob Ahuja, *Xavier University* 

Mary Albrecht, Maryville University

Keanon Alderson, California Baptist University

Elizabeth C. Alexander, *Marshall University* 

Charlotte Allen, Stephen F. Austin State University

Daniel Allen, Utah State University

Elsa Anaya, Alamo Colleges, Palo Alto College

Cynthia Anderson, Youngstown State University

Christopher Anicich, California State University, Fullerton

Maria Aria, Camden County College

Timothy W. Aurand, Northern Illinois University

Joe K. Ballenger, Stephen F. Austin State University

Soumava Bandyopadhyay, Lamar University

Christine Barnes, Lakeland Community College

Jennifer Barr, Richard Stockton College of New Jersey Arne Baruca, Sacred Heart University

George Bass, Kennesaw State University

Charles Beem, Bucks County Community College

Robert Belenger, Bristol Community College

Frank Benna, Raritan Valley Community College

George H. Bernard, Seminole State College of Florida

Stephen Berry, Anne Arundel Community College

Tom Bilyeu, Southwestern Illinois College

Nicholas Bosco, Suffolk County Community College

David Bourff, Boise State University

Michael Brady, Florida State University

Cheryl O'Meara Brown, University of West Georgia

Kendrick Brunson, Liberty University

Gary Brunswick, Northern Michigan University

Kent Byus, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi

Kimberly Cade, Houston Community College, Central

Kerri M. Camp, University of Texas at Tyler

°°°°,

Amy Caponetti, Pellissippi State Community College

Carla Cardellio, Schoolcraft College

Deborah Carter, Coahoma Community College

Eric Carter, California State University, Bakersfield

Debi Cartwright, Truman State University

Elisabeth Cason, Bossier Parish Community College

Gerald Cavallo, Fairfield University

Anindya Chatterjee, Slippery Rock University

Ruth Chavez, Metropolitan State University of Denver

Piotr Chelminski, Providence College

Haozhe Chen, East Carolina University

Lisa Cherivtch, Oakton Community College

Jerome Christia, Coastal Carolina University

Christina Chung, Ramapo College of New Jersey

Janet Ciccarelli, Herkimer County Community College

Dorene Ciletti, Duquesne University

Paul Clark, Coastal Carolina University

xviii

Acknowledgments

Reid Claxton, East Carolina University

Steven Clinton, Robert Morris University

Kyle Coble, Lindenwood University

Gloria Cockerell, *Collin College* 

Kesha Coker, Eastern Illinois University

Margy Conchar, East Carolina University

Francisco Conejo, University of Colorado, Denver

Mary Conran, *Temple University* 

Barbara T. Conte, Florida Atlantic University

Laurel Cook, *West Virginia University* 

Richard Cooper, Lindenwood University

Tracy Cosenza, University of Memphis

Ian Cross, Bentley University

Anna Crowe, University of San Diego

Brent J. Cunningham, Jacksonville State University

Mayukh Dass, Texas Tech University

De'Amo De'Armond, West Texas A&M University

Larry Degaris, University of Indianapolis

Beth Deinert, Southeast Community College

George Deitz, University of Memphis

Duleep Delpechitre, University of Louisiana, Lafayette

John Depies, University of Wisconsin, Oshkosh

Chandan DeSarkar, SUNY, University of Albany Paul Dion, Susquehanna University

Kim Donahue, Indiana University Kelley School of Business, Indianapolis

Beibei Dong, Lehigh University

Mary Anne Doty, Texas A&M Commerce

Kathy Dougherty, Maryville University

Howard Dover, Salisbury University

Lawrence Duke, Drexel University

Gregory Dumont, University of Akron

Stu Dunlop, Missouri Southern State University

Jill Dybus, Oakton Community College

Judy Eberhart, Lindenwood University

Diane Edmondson, *Middle Tennessee State University* 

Karen A. Evans, *Herkimer College* 

David J. Faulds, University of Louisville

Ronald Feinberg, Suffolk Community College

Janice M. Feldbauer, Schoolcraft College

Kathleen Ferris-Costa, Bridgewater State University

Troy Festervand, *Middle Tennessee State University* 

Monica Fine, Coastal Carolina University

David Fleming, Eastern Illinois University

Richard Flight, Eastern Illinois University

Paul Fombele, Northeastern University

Angel Fonseca, Jackson College

0

Kendra Fowler, Youngstown State University

Michael Fowler, Brookdale Community College

Alexa Fox, *Ohio University* 

Thomas F. Frizzell, Sr., Massasoit Community College

Anthony R. Fruzzetti, Johnson & Wales University

Venessa Funches, Auburn University, Montgomery

Pat Galitz, Southeast Community College

Carol Gaumer, Frostburg State University

Stephanie Gillison, University of Tennessee at Chattanooga

John T. Gironda, Nova Southeastern University

Karl Giulian, Atlantic Cape Community College

Connie Golden, Lakeland Community College

Edward Gonsalves, Boston College

Kimberly Grantham, University of Georgia

Arlene Green, Indian River State College

Mike Grier, Central Piedmont Community College

Melodi Guilbault, New Jersey Institute of Technology

Audrey Guskey, Duquesne University

Jamey R. Halleck, Marshall University

Richard Hanna, Northeastern University

John T. Hansen, University of Alabama at Birmingham

Ivan Franklin Harber Jr., Indian River State College

Robert Harrison, Western Michigan University Kelli Hatin, Adirondack Community College

Adrienne Hinds, Northern Virginia Community College

Bryan Hochstein, University of Alabama

Nasim Hosein, Northwood University

Tarique Hossain, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona

Robert Hucks, Bob Jones University

Gail Hudson, Arkansas State University

Janet Huetteman, *Fairfield University* 

Steven Huff, Utah Valley University

Doug Hughes, Michigan State University

Jing Hu, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona

Wade Hyde, El Centro College

James Jarrard, University of Wisconsin, Platteville

Sean Jasso, University of California, Riverside

Keith Jones, Saint Leo University

Michael Jones, Southeastern Louisiana University

Stephen Juma, Southern Arkansas University

Sungwoo Jung, Columbus State University

Marla Kameny, Baton Rouge Community College

Tommy Karam, Louisiana State University

Vishal Kashyap, *Xavier University* 

Bruce Keillor, Youngstown State University Sylvia Keyes, Bridgewater State University

Tina Kiesler, California State University, Northridge

Nancy Kimble, Carroll Community College

Taewan Kim, Lehigh University

Rose Klimovich, Manhattan College

George B. Krueger, University of Wisconsin, Platteville

Mike Krush, North Dakota State University

Ann Kuzma, Minnesota State University, Mankato

Jane Lang, East Carolina University

Nikki Lee-Wingate, Fairfield University

Marilyn Liebrenz-Himes, George Washington University

Fuan Li, William Paterson University

Noah Lim, University of Wisconsin, Madison

Guy Lochiatto, MassBay Community College

Subhash Lonial, University of Louisville

Pat Lupino, Nassau Community College

A. Maamoun, University of Minnesota, Duluth

Lisa Machado, Southeast Community College, Lincoln

Deanna Mader, Marshall University

Cesar Maloles, California State University, East Bay

•`

Gayle Marco, Robert Morris University

Peter Maresco, Sacred Heart University

Melissa M. Martirano, New Jersey City University Anil Mathur, Hofstra University

William Matthews, William Paterson University

Brian Mazur, Schoolcraft College

Enda McGovern, Sacred Heart University

Rajiv Mehta, New Jersey Institute of Technology

Havva Meric, East Carolina University

William Merkle, Bob Jones University

Deborah Merrigan, Rockland Community College

Bob Meyer, Parkland College

Marty Meyers, University of Wisconsin, Stevens Point

Mark Mitchell, Coastal Carolina University

Iris Mohr, St. John's University

Risto Moisio, Cal State Long Beach

Detra Montoya, University of Washington

Melissa Moore, Mississippi State University

Paula T. Morris, Salisbury University

Jay Mulki, D'Amore McKim School of Business, Northeastern University

Jun Myers, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona

Thomas Myers, Virginia Commonwealth University

Gergana Nenkov, Boston College

Mary Norman, University of North Georgia

Hudson Nwakanma, Florida A&M University

#### Acknowledgments

Louis Nzegwu, University of Wisconsin, Platteville

Matt O'Hern, University of Oregon

Carlton O'Neal, University of San Diego

Joanne Orabone, Community College of Rhode Island

Judy Orfao, Middlesex Community College

Karen Overton, Houston Community College, Southwest

Thomas J. Passero, Owens Community College

Kirsten Passyn, Salisbury University

Debra Perosio, Cornell University

Edward Petkus, Ramapo College of New Jersey

Maria Petrescu, Nova Southeastern University

Julie Pharr, Tennessee Tech University

Carly Pierson, *Missouri State University* 

Warren Purdy, University of Southern Maine

Sekar Raju, Iowa State University

Bruce Ramsey, Franklin University

Sampath Kumar Ranganathan, University of Wisconsin, Green Bay

Mohammed Y. A. Rawwas, University of Northern Iowa

Kristen Regine, Johnson & Wales University

Timothy Reisenwitz, Valdosta State University

Eddie Rhee, Stonehill College

William E. Rice, California State University, Fresno

Brent Richard, North Central Michigan College Michael A. Richarme, University of Texas at Arlington

Ralph J. Rich, Marian University

David Robinson, University of California, Berkeley

Jessica Rogers, Texas A&M University, Commerce

Joseph Roman, New Jersey Institute of Technology

Ann Root, Florida Atlantic University

Emily Rosenzweig, *Tulane University* 

Christopher Ross, Trident Technical College

Doug Ross, Franklin University

Carol Rowey, Community College of Rhode Island

Donald Roy, Middle Tennessee State University

Catherine Ruggieri, St. John's University

David Rylander, Texas Woman's College

Ritesh Saini, University of Texas at Arlington

Alan Sandomir, University of Utah

Kumar Sarangee, Santa Clara University

Fritz Scherz, Morrisville State College

Roberta Schultz, Western Michigan University

Eric Schulz, Utah State University

Joe Schwartz, Georgia College and State University

Ronald Scott, Trident Technical College

Sandipan Sen, Southeast Missouri State University

Ravi Shanmugam, Santa Clara University J. Richard Shannon, Western Kentucky University

Lisa Siegal, Texas A&M University, San Antonio

Rob Simon, University of Nebraska, Lincoln

Shweta Singh, *Kean University* 

Ian Skurnik, Eccles School of Business, University of Utah

Rudy Soliz, Houston Community College

Karen L. Stewart, Stockton University

Pete Stone, Spartanburg Community College

Randy Stuart, Kennesaw State University

Ramendra Thakur, University of Louisiana, Lafayette

Kin Thompson, Northeastern State University

Willie Frank Thompson, *Troy University* 

Scott Thorne, Southeast Missouri State University

Patricia Todd, Western Kentucky University

Deborah Toomey, Northwest Missouri State University

Dennis Tootelian, California State University, Sacramento

Hope K. Torkornoo, Kennesaw State University

Philip Trocchia, University of South Florida, St. Petersburg

Lisa Troy, Texas A&M University

Patricia Turnbull, California State University, Fresno

Ed Valenski, Long Island University

Laura Lott Valenti, Nicholls State University

Sal Veas, Santa Monica College

#### Acknowledgments



Acknowledaments

Ann Veeck, Western Michigan University

Franck Vigneron, California State University, Northridge

Jorge Villa, Park University

Mary Kay Wachter, *Pittsburg State University* 

Del Wakley, Milwaukee Area Technical College

Mary Walker, *Xavier University* 

Michael Walsh, West Virginia University Wakiuru Wamwara, Wright State University

Ursula Wefers, Plymouth State University

Diane Whitney, University of Maryland, College Park

Debbora Whitson, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona

Natalie Winter, California Baptist University

Jefrey Woodall, York College of Pennsylvania Van Wood, Virginia Commonwealth University

Barbara Ross Wooldridge, University of Texas at Tyler

Poh-Lin Yeoh, Bentley University

Mark Yi-Cheon Yim, Canisius College

Albert Yu, Santa Rosa Junior College

James E. Zemanek Jr., East Carolina University

This product would not have been possible without the effort and expertise of many people. First and foremost, we would like to recognize and thank the entire editorial and marketing teams at McGraw Hill Education who have made this product possible. We are very thankful to Meredith Fossel and Jessica Dimitrijevic who surrounded us with the best team in all of higher education publishing. We are thankful for our development editors, Allison Marker and Kelly Pekelder, for keeping us on track and focused on all of the integrated aspects of the product. We are thankful for Michelle Sweeden, a truly amazing marketing manager, whose vision was instrumental in communicating the message of our product.

In addition, we are thankful for Christine Vaughan, Kelly Luchtman, Jacob Sullivan, Keri Johnson, and all of the talented people McGraw Hill assembled whose guidance and feedback made the product much better. It has been our pleasure and privilege to work with these incredibly talented and skilled professionals who have shaped the final product that you are about to read.

We are thankful for Cortney Kieffer, who was Shane's and John's McGraw Hill field representative at Arkansas State University. Cortney was our first exposure to McGraw Hill, and her professionalism, dedication to our students, and friendship made us want to be part of the McGraw Hill family.

We thank Mohammed Rawwas, University of Northern Iowa, for his work in helping develop our new marketing analytics exercises in *Connect*. We also want to thank our colleagues at Idaho State University, Arkansas State University, and the University of Memphis. It is an honor every day to get to work with brilliant people who genuinely and passionately care about the education of our students. In particular, our work on this edition was greatly enhanced by feedback from Sandra Smith, Alex Rose, Nicole Hanson, John Ney, Gail Hudson, Emin Babakus, Dan Sherrell, Mike Peasley, Jennifer Tatara, and Subhash Jha. Their support and friendship is priceless, and we feel very thankful to be part of these truly world-class institutions.

We want to thank our families for their love, support, and patience while we developed this edition. We want to thank the great faculty members at Oklahoma State University, the University of Tennessee, and The University of Alabama for the training and knowledge they gave us during our doctoral programs. We want to thank our many great colleagues in the private sector, at companies including Williams, MediFAX EDI, Citynet, Playtex, and Unilever, who provided us with experiences that sharpened our focus on the practical applications of marketing and preparing our students for today's competitive job market.





Finally, we want to thank our students. Being a marketing professor is the best job in the world because of the students we get to teach, help, and learn from. The great students at Idaho State University, Arkansas State University, the University of Memphis, and throughout the country and the world drove our decision to create this product. Marketing is an extremely important topic for their careers and their lives, and we hope we have developed a product to help them succeed and achieve their dreams.

Shane Hunt, John Mello, and George Deitz

# **DETAILED CONTENTS**

#### PART ONE Marketing in the Twenty-First Century 1

#### 1 WHY MARKETING **MATTERS TO YOU 2 Executive Perspective 3**

#### The Value of Marketing 4

Creating Value 4 Communicating Value 5 **Delivering Value 5** 

#### History of Marketing 6

Production Orientation 6 Sales Orientation 7 Marketing Concept 7 The Future of Marketing 7

#### **Needs versus Wants 8**

Rofael Henrique/SOPA Images/LightRocket/Getty Images Distinguishing Needs from Wants 9 The Ethical Implications of Needs versus Wants 9

Affac.

#### The Marketing Mix: The Four Ps 10

Product 11 Price 11 Place 11 Promotion 12 Exercise 1-1: Social Media in Action 13

#### **Trends Affecting Marketing 13**

Global Marketing 14 Marketing Analytics 15 Ethics in Marketing 16 Exercise 1-2 20

#### Marketing for Nonprofit Organizations 20

Today's Professional 21

#### Marketing Yourself 22

Exercise 1-3 22

Summary 23 | Key Terms 24 | Marketing Plan Exercise 24 | Discussion Questions 24 | Social Media Application 24 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 25 | Ethical Challenge 25 | Video Case 25 | Podcast 25 | Career Tips 26 | Chapter Notes 27





#### 2 STRATEGIC PLANNING 28 **Executive Perspective 29** The Importance of Strategic Planning 30 **Mission Statement 31** The Marketing Plan 32 Executive Summary 33 Situation Analysis 33 Marketing Strategy 34 Tinnaporn Sathapornnanont/Shutterstock Financials 34 Controls 34 Tools and Techniques for the Situation Analysis 35 Market Summary 35 SWOT Analysis 36 Exercise 2-1 38 Competition Analysis 39 Basic Tools and Techniques of Marketing Strategy 39 Segmentation, Target Markets, and Positioning 40 Strategic Direction 41 Exercise 2-2 42 Marketing Mix 42 Exercise 2-3: Social Media in Action 44 Marketing Strategy in a Global Context 44 Exporting 45 Licensing 45 Franchising 46 Joint Venture 46 Direct Ownership 47 Exercise 2-4 47 Marketing Analytics 47 Return on Marketing Investment 48 Revenue Analysis 48 Market Share Analysis 49 Profitability Analysis 50 Today's Professional 51 Summary 52 | Key Terms 53 | Marketing Plan Exercise 53 | Discussion Questions 54 | Social Media Application 54 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 54 | Ethical Challenge 55 | Video Case 55 | Podcast 55 | Career Tips 56 | Chapter Notes 56 Appendix 2A Sample Marketing Plan: **Cuisine Masters Restaurant Supply 58**



#### **THE GLOBAL ENVIRONMENT 70** 3

#### **Executive Perspective 71**

#### **Competitive Environment 72**

**Direct Competition 72** Indirect Competition 72

#### **External Marketing Environment 73**

Economic Factors 73 **Demographic Factors** 78 Exercise 3-1: Social Media in Action 79 Sociocultural Factors 82 Political Factors 82 Legal Factors 83 Technological Factors 84 Exercise 3-2 85



#### **International Marketing Environment 85**

**Currency Fluctuation 86** Income Distribution 86 Using Metrics to Analyze International Markets 86 Major Trade Agreements and Organizations 87

Exercise 3-3 90

Technology 90 Cultural Fit 90

#### Today's Professional 91

Exercise 3-4 92

#### Nonprofit Marketing Environment 92

Economic Factors 93 Political Factors 93 Legal Factors 93 Technology Factors 94

Summary 94 | Key Terms 95 | Marketing Plan Exercise 95 | Discussion Questions 96 | Social Media Application 96 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 96 | Ethical Challenge 97 | Video Case 97 | Career Tips 97 | Chapter Notes 98

#### PART TWO Understanding Your Customer 101

#### **CONSUMER BEHAVIOR 102** 4

#### **Executive Perspective 103**

**Understanding Consumer** Behavior 104

> **Traditional Perspectives on Consumer Decision** Making 104 Inside Buyers' Brains 105

#### **Consumer Decision-Making**

#### Processes 106

Problem Recognition 107 Information Search 107





xxvii

Exercise 4-1: Social Media in Action 109

Evaluating Alternatives 110 Outlet Selection and Purchase 111 Post-Purchase Evaluation 113 Exercise 4-2 114

#### Cultural and Social Influences on Consumer Behavior 114

Culture 114 Social Factors 116

#### Individual Influences on Consumer Behavior 118

Personality 118 Lifestyle 119 Values 120

#### Psychological Influences on Consumer Behavior 121

Perception 121 Motivation 122

Attitudes 125

Exercise 4-3 127

#### Situational Influences and Involvement 127

Situational Influences 127 Involvement 128

#### Business-to-Business Marketing 130

Professional Purchasing 131 Derived Demand 131 Fewer Buyers, Larger Purchases 132

#### Types of Business Customers 133

Producers 133 Reseller Markets 133 Government Markets 134 Institutional Markets 134

#### **Business Buying Behavior 135**

B2B Buying Situations 135

#### Today's Professional 137

#### Buying Centers 138

Summary 138 | Key Terms 140 | Marketing Plan Exercise 140 | Discussion Questions 141 | Social Media Application 141 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 141 | Ethical Challenge 141 | Video Case 142 | Podcast 142 | Career Tips 142 | Chapter Notes 143

5 MARKETING RESEARCH AND ANALYTICS 146

**Executive Perspective 147** 

#### Marketing Research Process 148

What Is Marketing Research 148 Marketing Research Process 149 Marketing Research and You 154 Exercise 5-1 154



#### Secondary Data and Predictive Analytics 154

Use of Secondary Data for Business Research 154 Secondary Data Sources 156 Big Data and Predictive Analytics 158

#### Primary Data Research Methods 161

Qualitative Methods for Business Research 161 Quantitative Methods for Primary Business Research 164

Exercise 5-2: Social Media in Action 168

#### Global Marketing Research 169

Challenges Unique to International Marketing Research 170

#### Marketing Research Trends 171

Customer Journey Maps 171 Mobile Marketing Research 173 Neuromarketing 174

Exercise 5-3 177

#### Marketing Research Ethics 177

Respecting Customer Data Privacy 178 Standards for Ethical Marketing Research 178

#### Today's Professional 180

Summary 181 | Key Terms 182 | Marketing Plan Exercise 182 | Discussion Questions 183 | Social Media Application 183 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 183 | Ethical Challenge 183 | Video Case 184 | Podcast 184 | Career Tips 184 | Chapter Notes 184

#### 6 PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT 186

**Executive Perspective 187** 

#### What Is a New Product? 188

New-to-the-Market Products 189 New-Category Entries 191 Product-Line Extensions 192 Revamped Products 192

Exercise 6-1 193

# The Stages of New-Product Development 193

- Stage 1: New-Product Strategy Development 193
- Stage 2: Idea Generation 194
- Stage 3: Idea Screening 196
- Stage 4: Business Analysis 198
- Stage 5: Product Development 198
- Stage 6: Test Marketing 199
- Stage 7: Product Launch 200

Exercise 6-2: Social Media in Action 202

#### **Risks in New-Product Development 202**

Categorizing Risks in New-Product Development 204 Reducing Risks in New-Product Development 205

#### **Product Adoption 205**

Types of Adopters 206 Product Characteristics 207





### The Product Life Cycle 209

Stages of the Product Life Cycle 209

#### Today's Professional 211

Exercise 6-3 212

Estimating the Length of a Product's Life 213 Projecting the Shape of the PLC Curve 214 Strategic Implications for the Marketing Mix 215

Summary 216 | Key Terms 217 | Marketing Plan Exercise 217 | Discussion Questions 217 | Social Media Application 218 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 218 | Video Case 218 | Podcast 218 | Career Tips 218 | Chapter Notes 219

#### 7 SEGMENTATION, TARGETING, AND POSITIONING 222

#### Executive Perspective 223

#### Market Segmentation 224

The Importance of Market Segmentation 224 Criteria for Effective Market Segmentation 225

#### Segmentation Bases 226

**Demographic Segmentation 226** Geographic Segmentation 229 Psychographic Steve Schaack Segmentation 231

Exercise 7-1 233

Behavioral Segmentation 233

Business-to-Business Segmentation Bases 234 The Role of Social Media in Market Segmentation 234

Exercise 7-2: Social Media in Action 235

#### International Market Segmentation 236

International Segmentation Bases 236 International Market Segments and the Marketing Mix 237

#### Selecting Target Markets 238

Factors in Selecting Target Markets 238 Target Marketing Analytics 238

#### **Target Marketing Strategies 239**

Undifferentiated Targeting 239 Differentiated Targeting 239 Niche Marketing 240

#### Ethical Issues in Target Marketing 241

Today's Professional 242

#### Market Positioning 243

Steps in Market Positioning 243

Exercise 7-3 245

Positioning Statement 245

Repositioning 246

Summary 247 | Key Terms 248 | Marketing Plan Exercise 248 | Discussion Questions 249 | Social Media Application 249 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 249 | Ethical Challenge 249 | Video Case 250 | Podcast 250 | Career Tips 250 | Chapter Notes 251



### PART THREE Reaching Your Customer 253

#### 8 PROMOTIONAL STRATEGIES 254

#### Executive Perspective 255

#### Promotion Mix 256

Elements of the Promotion Mix 256 Integrated Marketing Communications 257 Finding the Optimal Promotion Mix 258

#### Advertising 258

Television Advertising 259 Internet Advertising 262

Exercise 8-1: Social Media in Action 262

Print Advertising 263 Radio Advertising 264 Outdoor Advertising 266 Nontraditional Advertising 266 Exercise 8-2 267



#### Sales Promotion 268

Coupons 268 Rebates 268 Samples 269 Contests and Sweepstakes 269 Premiums 269 Loyalty Programs 270 Trade Sales Promotions 270

### Personal Selling 271

#### Public Relations 272

Public Relations Tools 272 The Impact of Social Media on Public Relations 273 Crisis Management 274 The Changing Face of Public Relations 274

#### **Promotional Metrics 275**

Measuring Advertising Effectiveness 275 Measuring Social Media Effectiveness 276

#### Promotion-Mix Budgeting Strategies 276

Affordable Method 277 Percentage-of-Sales Method 277 Objective-and-Task Method 277

#### Today's Professional 278

Exercise 8-3 279

Summary 279 | Key Terms 280 | Marketing Plan Exercise 280 | Discussion Questions 281 | Social Media Application 281 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 282 | Ethical Challenge 282 | Video Case 282 | Podcast 282 | Career Tips 283 | Chapter Notes 283



# 9 PERSONAL SELLING 286

Executive Perspective 287

# Importance of Personal Selling 288

The Strategic Role of the Sales Force 289 Factors That Influence Use of Personal Selling 289 Career Opportunities in Sales 291

#### Types of Sales Positions 293

New-Business Salespeople 293 Order-Takers 293 Consultative Sellers 294 Missionary Salespeople 294 Key-Account Sellers 294 Sales Management and Support 295 Exercise 9-1 296



#### The Personal Selling Process 296

Prospecting and Qualifying 297 Pre-approach 297 Approach 298 The Presentation 300 Handling Objections 301 Gaining Commitment 302 Follow-Up 303 Applying the Personal Selling Process to Your Future Job Search 303 Exercise 9-2 304

#### Foundations of Sales Success 304

Maintaining a Positive Self-Concept 304 Market-Related Knowledge 306 Selling-Related Knowledge 306

#### Sales Technology and Social Selling 308

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Systems 309 Virtual Selling 310 What Is Social Selling? 312

Exercise 9-3: Social Media in Action 314

#### Ethical Issues in Personal Selling and Sales Management 316

Causes and Implications of Unethical Sales Behaviors 316 Standards of Sales Professional Conduct 317

#### Today's Professional 318

Summary 319 | Key Terms 320 | Marketing Plan Exercise 321 | Discussion Questions 321 | Social Media Application 321 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 322 | Ethical Challenge 322 | Video Case 322 | Podcast 322 | Career Tips 323 | Chapter Notes 323



#### xxxi

Detailed Contents

#### 10 SUPPLY CHAIN AND LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT 326

#### Executive Perspective 327

#### Supply Chains 328

Supply Chain Flows through Marketing Channels 328

#### Supply Chain Strategy 330

Push Strategy 330 Pull Strategy 331 Hybrid (Push-Pull) Strategy 332 Selecting the Appropriate Strategy 332 Exercise 10-1 334

#### Supply Chain Management 334

What Is Supply Chain Management? 334 Important Concepts in Supply Chain Management 335

#### What Is Logistics? 341

The Impact of Logistics 342 Aligning Logistics with Supply Chain Strategies 343

#### Logistics Functions 343

Managing Inventories 344 Purchasing 345

Materials Management, Warehousing, and Distribution 347

#### Today's Professional 353

Exercise 10-2: Social Media in Action 354

Summary 354 | Key Terms 355 | Marketing Plan Exercise 355 | Discussion Questions 356 | Social Media Application 356 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 357 | Ethical Challenge 357 | Video Case 357 | Podcast 357 | Career Tips 358 | Chapter Notes 358

#### 11 PRICING 360

## Executive Perspective 361

#### The Importance of Pricing 362 The Price-Setting Process 363

Step 1: Define the Pricing Objectives 363 Step 2: Evaluate Demand 364 Step 3: Determine the Costs 366 Step 4: Analyze the Competitive Price Environment 368 Step 5: Choose a Price 369 Step 6: Monitor and Evaluate the

Effectiveness of the Price 371 Exercise 11-1 372

### Pricing Tactics 372

Markup Pricing 373 Odd/Even Pricing 374 Prestige Pricing 374 Loss-Leader Pricing 375 Seasonal Discounts 375 Price Bundling 375








xxxiii

Exercise 11-2 376

#### Technology and Pricing 376

Mobile Applications 376 Dynamic Pricing 377 Name-Your-Own-Price 377

#### **Global Pricing 378**

Gray Market 378 Tariffs 378

Today's Professional 379

Dumping 380

#### Legal and Ethical Issues in Pricing 380

Price Discrimination 380 Exercise 11-3: Social Media in Action 381 Price Fixing 381 Predatory Pricing 382

Deceptive Pricing 382

U.S. Laws Affecting Pricing 382

Exercise 11-4 384

Summary 384 | Key Terms 385 | Marketing Plan Exercise 385 | Discussion Questions 386 | Social Media Application 386 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 386 | Ethical Challenge 387 | Video Case 387 | Podcast 387 | Career Tips 387 | Chapter Notes 388

#### 12 RETAILING 390

Executive Perspective 391

#### What Is Retailing? 392

Importance of Retailing to the Global Economy 392 How Do Retailers Differ? 394 Exercise 12-1 396

Careers in Retailing 396

**Identify Retail Store** 

#### Formats 398

Discount Stores 399 Supermarkets and Grocery Stores 399 Warehouse Clubs 400 Convenience Stores 401 Drugstores 402 Department Stores 402 Specialty Stores 404 Off-Price and Extreme-Value Retailers 405 Services Retailers 406

Exercise 12-2 407

#### Online Retailing and Other Nonstore Retail Formats 407

Online Retailing 407 Catalog Marketing and Video Commerce 410 Automated Vending 411 Direct Selling 412 Exercise 12-3: Social Media in Action 413



#### Retail Marketing Strategy 413

Omnichannel Retailing 414 Retailer Operational Efficiency 415 Store Location and Site Selection 416 Store Image and Retailer Positioning 416

#### Today's Professional 419

#### **Twenty-First-Century Retailing 420**

Big Data and Retail Analytics 420 Competing on Customer Experience 421 Retail Technology 422

Summary 426 | Key Terms 427 | Marketing Plan Exercise 428 | Discussion Questions 428 | Social Media Application 428 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 428 | Ethical Challenge 429 | Video Case 429 | Podcast 429 | Career Tips 430 | Chapter Notes 430

#### 13 DIGITAL AND SOCIAL MEDIA MARKETING 432

Executive Perspective 433

#### The Digital Marketing

#### **Revolution 434**

Marketing to the "Always-Connected" Consumer 434

Exercise 13-1 438

#### Search Marketing 439

Search Marketing Techniques 440 Search Marketing Performance

Is Key to Online Success 440 Exercise 13-2 443

#### Social Media Marketing 443

Social Media Marketing Channels 443 Social Media Marketing Strategy 444 Exercise 13-3: Social Media in Action 449

#### **Content Marketing 450**

Content Marketing Source and Techniques 450 Trends in Content Marketing 453

#### Digital and Social Media Marketing Metrics 455

Digital Marketing Metrics 455

Social Media Marketing Metrics 457

#### Today's Professional 459

#### Ethical Issues In Digital and Social Media Marketing 461

Online Privacy and Information Security 461

Unethical Targeting of Digital Customers 462 Ethical Best Practices in Social Media Marketing 463

Summary 464 | Key Terms 465 | Marketing Plan Exercise 465 | Discussion Questions 466 | Social Media Application 467 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 467 | Ethical Challenge 467 | Video Case 467 | Podcast 468 | Career Tips 468 |

Ethical Challenge 467 | Video Case 467 | Podcast 468 | Career Tips 468 Chapter Notes 468







# PART FOUR Responding to Your Customer 471

#### 14 BRANDING 472 Executive Perspective 473

#### Branding 474

Developing Your Personal Brand 474 Components of a Successful Brand 475 Exercise 14-1 477

#### Brand Equity 477

Benefits of Brand Equity 477 Measuring Brand Equity 478

#### Brand Strategies 480

Brand Extension 480 Brand Revitalization 481 Co-Branding 481 Private-Label Brands 482

#### Packaging 483

Promoting Brand Image 483 Reinforcing Brand Image 484 Exercise 14-2 484

#### The Role of Social Media in Branding 484

Customer Engagement through Social Media 485 Social Media Branding Goals 487 Monitoring a Social Brand 488

Exercise 14-3: Social Media in Action 488

#### **Global Branding 490**

The Global Strength of U.S. Brands 490 Adapting Brands to the Global Market 491

#### Today's Professional 492

Exercise 14-4 493

#### Branding for Nonprofit Organizations 493

#### Nonprofit Brand Equity 494

Measuring Nonprofit Brand Equity 494

Summary 495 | Key Terms 496 | Marketing Plan Exercise 496 | Discussion Questions 496 | Social Media Application 497 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 497 | Ethical Challenge 497 | Video Case 497 | Podcast 497 | Career Tips 498 | Chapter Notes 498





**Detailed Contents** 

#### 15 **CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT 500**

#### **Executive Perspective 501**

#### What Is Customer Service? 502

Defining Customer Service 502 **Establishing Customer Service** Policies 504

The Role of Social Media in Customer Service 507

Exercise 15-1: Social Media in Action 508

Tracking Performance through Customer Service Metrics 509

Exercise 15-2 511

#### Gaining and Keeping Loyal Customers 511

The Bases of Customer Satisfaction 512 The GAP Model 513 Limitations on Customer Satisfaction 513

Improving Customer Relationships 514

Relationship Marketing 515 Empowering Service Employees 517 Service Recovery 517

#### **Customer Relationship Management 518**

**Objectives of Customer Relationship Management** 519 The CRM Process 520

Exercise 15-3 523

Leveraging Customer Information 523

#### Security and Ethical Issues in Customer Relationship Management 524 **Determining the Effectiveness of Customer Relationship** Management 525

#### Today's Professional 527

Summary 528 | Key Terms 529 | Marketing Plan Exercise 529 | Discussion Questions 530 | Social Media Application 530 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 531 | Ethical Challenge 531 | Video Case 531 | Podcast 531 | Career Tips 531 | Chapter Notes 532

#### 16 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY 534

#### **Executive Perspective 535**

#### **Corporate Social Responsibility 536**

Economic Dimension 536 Legal Dimension 537 Ethical Dimension 538 Philanthropic Dimension 539

#### Exercise 16-1 540

**Developing a Successful Corporate Social** Responsibility Program 540 Analytics for Auditing a **Corporate Social** Responsibility Program 541



Rob Wilson/Shutterstock



Volunteerism 542

#### Sustainable Marketing 543

Sustainability Vision 544 Consumerism 545

Exercise 16-2 546

#### **Environmental Marketing 546**

Environmental Marketing Strategies 548

Exercise 16-3 550

Benefits of Environmental Marketing 550 Environmental Regulation 551

#### **Global Environmentalism and Sustainability 551**

Global Challenges and Opportunities 551

Rationalizing Global Sustainability 552

Ethical and Sustainability Issues in New-Product Development and Supply Chain Management 553

#### Today's Professional 558

#### The Impact of Social Media on Corporate Social Responsibility 559

Social Media–Based Corporate Social Responsibility Initiatives 559 Social Media and Global Sustainability 560

Exercise 16-4: Social Media in Action 561

Summary 561 | Key Terms 562 | Marketing Plan Exercise 562 | Discussion Questions 563 | Social Media Application 563 | Marketing Analytics Exercise 563 | Ethical Challenge 564 | Video Case 564 | Podcast 564 | Career Tips 564 | Chapter Notes 565

Appendix: Sample Marketing Plan 568 Glossary 579 Company Index 591 Name Index 597 Subject Index 603

• 。•

# Chapter **3**

# The Global Environment



a safe distance from others whenever possible.



Fly View Productions/Getty Images

# **Learning Objectives**

After reading this chapter, you should be able to

**LO 3-1** Differentiate between direct and indirect competition.

**LO 3-2** Summarize the major external factors that influence the marketing environment.

**LO 3-3** Extend the analysis of the marketing environment beyond the borders of the United States.

- LO 3-4 Identify the major trade agreements, monetary unions, and organizations that affect the international marketing environment.
- **LO 3-5** Describe the emerging factors that influence the nonprofit marketing environment.

# Executive **Perspective** ... because everyone is a marketer

As a college student, Matt Slick majored in finance not knowing how marketing would become a significant part of his professional journey. Early in his career, Matt worked in business development then took his first leadership position in a marketing organization by managing the pricing administration team at WilTel Communications.

Over the past 15 years, Matt has led global sales operations and global deal structuring for some of the leading technology companies in the world. Today, Matt serves as Senior Principal for Global Pricing and Price to Win at DXC Technology where he works with sales teams on IT outsourcing contracts with values greater than \$100 million. His role on these teams is to build a client business case with a target price, and the actual price with a supporting P&L for internal governance approvals. He also work with sales teams to refine the client value proposition "Value Story" and ensure the pricing structure supports the story.

# What has been the most important thing in making you successful at your job?

I would say there are three main things. Initially, develop a first draft as soon as possible with placeholders for unknown elements and iterate as many times as possible to the finished product. Next, determine the questions people are likely to ask, and answer those questions in your work product. Finally, realize everyone has shortcomings and bad days, be patient and flexible and they will do the same with you.

# What advice would you give soon-to-be graduates?

You don't have to be an expert on everything. You can make an impact if you can quickly determine the levers in any situation or problem. Identify the levers and understand if the change will be good or bad, big or small when

#### Matt Slick

Senior Principal, Global Pricing and Price to Win **DXC Technology** 



Photo by Shannon Kaye Portrait Design

you pull them. Also, you may not use everything you were taught in school, but you will utilize your experiences, thought processes, your problem-solving skills, people skills, and concepts learned every day. Your education has helped you understand why things happen, the how may differ from one situation to another.

# How is marketing relevant to your role at DXC?

Marketing helps the business build playbooks with value stories that help sales teams tell consistent sales stories that play to the client's value perception. For example, our company will do this for you using these people, processes, and tools, and it will provide cost savings of x% while increasing business performance by y% with an improved customer experience resulting from z.

# What do you consider your personal brand to be?

In baseball, there is a concept of a utility player who can play several different positions. My role is to determine pricing but also to help other roles as necessary with my experience. Sometimes I might help to make sure the costs from engineers look correct, the sales story is convincing, the contract doesn't feel too tight or too loose, or the revenue recognition and accounting treatment seems reasonable.

#### LO 3-1

Differentiate between direct and indirect competition.

#### marketing environment

The outside factors and forces that affect a company's ability to meet its marketing goals. Those forces include political, economic, demographic, sociocultural, technological, and legal factors.

#### direct competition

A situation in which products that perform the same function compete against one another. Also called category competition or brand competition.

#### substitute products

Goods and services that perform very similar functions and can be used in place of one another.

#### indirect competition

A process in which products provide alternative solutions to the same market.

# **COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT**

SiriusXM was launched a little less than two decades ago. It is the largest satellite radio provider in North America, offering hundreds of channels of commercial-free music, sports, and talk. Today, over 34 million subscribers pay a monthly fee for the service.<sup>1</sup> Companies like SiriusXM compete in a dynamic and changing environment. The **marketing environment** consists of the outside factors and forces that affect a company's ability to meet its marketing goals. Those forces include political, economic, demographic, sociocultural, technological, and legal factors.

To be successful, marketers must understand the marketing environment, including both the competition and the domestic and international factors that affect the company. The competitive environment includes both direct and indirect competitors seeking to acquire market share.

### **Direct Competition**

The most obvious form of competition is **direct competition** (also called *category competition* or *brand competition*), in which products that perform the same function compete against one another. For example, Wendy's competes directly with hamburger chains McDonald's and Burger King for customers and market share. In 2012, Wendy's passed Burger King in sales volume for the first time, to become the second-largest U.S. hamburger chain behind McDonald's. Wendy's revenue growth continued into 2018, led by its popular "4 for \$4 meal."<sup>2</sup> However, sales at Wendy's were dwarfed by its other major direct competitor–McDonald's. During the same period, its total sales volume rose to \$37.4 billion, more than four times Wendy's annual sales of \$9.2 billion.<sup>3</sup>

The direct competition for SiriusXM includes traditional radio stations as well as Internet radio services like Spotify that stream across broadband connections. Traditional and Internet radio are examples of substitute products. **Substitute products** are goods and services that perform very similar functions and can be used in place of one another. For SiriusXM to succeed, it must differentiate its product from substitutes in ways that add value to the customer's listening experience. SiriusXM does this by forgoing commercials and offering specific content that is not available on any substitute product.



Marketing professionals at SiriusXM and every organization must recognize the challenges both direct and indirect competition present and develop strategies to protect and expand their organization in light of those challenges. *Cindy Ord/Getty Images Entertainment/Getty Images* 

#### **Indirect Competition**

Companies also face indirect competition. **Indirect competition** occurs when products provide alternative solutions to the same market. For SiriusXM, indirect competition would include products such as Apple's iPhone, which allows consumers to download and listen to their favorite music, audiobooks, and podcasts in their home or car.

Indirect competition also affects the fast-food industry. Despite reaching the number-two position among U.S. hamburger chains, Wendy's overall growth was relatively small due to increased indirect competition. As U.S. consumers looked for healthier dining choices, Subway jumped past both Wendy's and Burger King to become the third-largest restaurant chain in the United States, with approximately \$10.2 billion in sales.<sup>4</sup> While Wendy's products were able to make gains relative to Burger King's Whopper, they lost ground to healthier sandwiches and Subway's cleverly marketed "\$5 Footlong" and "Eat Fresh Refresh" campaigns. The beverage category offers another example of indirect competition. Direct competitors Coca-Cola and Pepsi have battled over soft-drink market share for decades. However, as consumers seek healthier drinks, soft-drink sales have begun to decline. Coca-Cola and Pepsi have seen indirect competitors gain market share selling juices, teas, energy drinks, and different types of water. Faced with this marketing trend, Coca-Cola and Pepsi aggressively expanded their offerings by acquiring brands (e.g., Coca-Cola with Dasani and Pepsi with Gatorade and Tropicana) in these emerging drink categories.

The shift in consumers' desire to eat, drink, and live healthier is one of several external factors currently affecting the marketing environment. To be successful, a firm must understand and adjust to the external environment, both domestic and international. In the next section, we'll discuss the major external factors firms should consider.



Firms that closely monitor indirect competition can take steps to reduce its impact by expanding their offerings, as Coca-Cola did in response to competition from firms promoting healthy alternatives to soft drinks. *Nicolas Asfouri/AFP/Getty Images* 

# EXTERNAL MARKETING ENVIRONMENT

Marketing does not occur in a vacuum. Unforeseen developments external to the firm can directly affect the success of its marketing strategy. For this reason, marketers continually scan the external environment. **Environmental scanning** involves monitoring developments outside the firm's control. The goal is to detect and respond to threats and opportunities that might affect the firm.

Historically, environmental scanning at U.S. companies focused almost exclusively on the domestic environment. American auto giants Ford, General Motors, and Chrysler spent much of the twentieth century concerned mostly with competition from each other, for example. However, with increasing globalization, firms have expanded their scanning activities to include the environment beyond U.S. borders. Today international car manufacturers such as Toyota and Honda affect General Motors just as much as Ford.

In subsequent sections, we'll discuss the six major external factors that influence the firm's marketing environment—economic, demographic, sociocultural, political, legal, and technological—shown in Figure 3.1. All of these factors occur on both a domestic and global scale. In this chapter, we'll first focus on how they occur in the domestic environment before we expand the discussion to include the global environment as well.

# **Economic Factors**

*Economic factors* influence almost every marketing decision a firm makes. Economic conditions affect consumers' willingness and ability to buy products. As a result, firms must create, communicate, and deliver value in a way that's appropriate for the current economic climate.

Four economic elements influence marketers: gross domestic product (GDP), income distribution, inflation, and consumer confidence.

# FIGURE 3.1 The External Factors Affecting the Marketing Environment

#### LO 3-2

Summarize the major external factors that influence the marketing environment.

#### environmental scanning

The act of monitoring developments outside the firm's control with the goal of detecting and responding to threats and opportunities.

#### gross domestic product (GDP)

A measure of the market value of all officially recognized final goods and services produced within a country in a given period.

#### recession

A period of time during which overall gross domestic product (GDP) declines for two or more consecutive quarters. **Gross Domestic Product** Gross domestic product paints a simple picture of the economic health of a nation. Gross domestic product (GDP) refers to the market value of all officially recognized final goods and services produced within a country in a given period. A country's GDP is a function of both the quantity of goods and services produced and their market values.

Overall GDP measures the overall size and health of an economy. The United States has the largest gross domestic product in the world for a single country, with almost \$21 trillion in 2020.<sup>5</sup> However, in recent years China, India, and other developing nations have seen the highest GDP growth rates. While the United States grew 2.16 percent in 2019 (the last full year before COVID-19), China's economy grew almost three times faster, at 5.95 percent.<sup>6</sup> Higher GDP growth often drives lower unemployment rates, higher consumer confidence, and increased wealth across most income levels. All of this leaves customers with more money to spend. However, lower GDP growth can also open up opportunities for marketers who anticipate the trend and modify their marketing-mix strategy accordingly.

The overall GDP number doesn't give a full picture of a country's economic health, though. Marketers also find it useful to know the average productivity or income per person. *GDP per capita* is often considered an indicator of a country's standard of living.<sup>7</sup> It is calculated by dividing a country's overall GDP by its population. For example, the GDP per capita in the United States was \$59,531 in 2017 compared with \$8,902 in Mexico and \$8,827 in China.<sup>8</sup>

Meanwhile, overall GDP is the most common gauge of the overall expansion or contraction of an economy. A **recession** occurs when overall GDP declines for two or more consecutive quarters. The most recent U.S. recession began in 2020 when the COVID-19 pandemic led to a 31.4 percent drop in GDP in the second quarter of the year.<sup>9</sup> Recessions can have a powerful negative effect on marketing. They typically involve layoffs, increased unemployment, and reduced consumer confidence. These factors influence consumers' ability and willingness to buy products and to contribute to nonprofit organizations.

**Income Distribution** Distribution of income across the U.S. population has shifted over the past several decades. This shift has forced marketers to develop new strategies to satisfy consumers at different ends of the spectrum. For example in 2017, the top 5 percent of the U.S. population earned approximately 36 percent of the country's adjusted gross income. Meanwhile, the bottom 50 percent earned less than 12 percent of the country's income.<sup>10</sup> Figure 3.2 illustrates the change in mean household income in the United States for various household segments over the past few decades in current dollar values. As the figure shows, though income for all household segments increased, income for the highest wage earners grew at a much quicker pace than it did for households in the bottom quintile.

Shifting income distribution offers marketers new opportunities to satisfy consumer needs and wants at various income levels. Many companies, such as Dollar General, have thrived by targeting consumers with modest incomes. Dollar General's marketing strategy includes offering low-income families quality food, health, and beauty products at reduced prices. This approach turned the company into a retailing bright spot over the past decade. While other firms struggled during the recession that began in December 2007, Dollar General opened new stores. Beyond this, it gained customers who have stayed loyal even as the economy began to rebound.<sup>11</sup>

On the other end of the spectrum is luxury brand Louis Vuitton, which makes shoes, watches, accessories, and other premium items. Catering to high-income consumers, the company has consistently increased its brand value. During the most recent recession, Louis Vuitton's marketing strategy involved raising prices and heightening its focus on quality. The result was additional sales to its wealthiest clients, and thus higher profits.<sup>12</sup>



**Inflation** You may have heard older friends and relatives talk about how, back in their day, a gallon of milk cost less than \$2. The fact that the same gallon of milk costs over \$4 today is the result of inflation. **Inflation** is an increase in the general level of prices of products in an economy over a period of time. When the general price level rises, each

#### inflation

An increase in the general level of prices of products in an economy over a period of time.



Brian Killian/Getty Images Enertainment/Getty Images



A. Astes/Alamy Stock Photo

Though they pursued markedly different strategies, both Louis Vuitton and Dollar General had success marketing to a U.S. population characterized by shifting income distribution.

#### purchasing power

A measure of the amount of goods and services that can be purchased for a specific amount of money.

#### consumer confidence

A measure of how optimistic consumers are about the overall state of the economy and their own personal finances. unit of currency (e.g., each U.S. dollar) buys fewer goods and services. In 2021, prices rose by 7 percent compared to the previous year, which was the fastest rate in almost four decades causing challenges for marketers and consumers across the economy.<sup>13</sup>

Consequently, inflation also reflects erosion in the purchasing power of money. **Purchasing power** is the amount of goods and services that can be purchased for a specific amount of money. For example, if the price of gasoline goes up 10 percent this year, the amount of gasoline you can purchase for \$20 decreases by that same 10 percent. Three decades ago, \$10 might have filled up your tank as average gas prices in the late 1980s were below \$1 per gallon.<sup>14</sup>

Inflation can affect marketing significantly if prices rise faster than consumer incomes. In the last decade, U.S. consumers have seen significant increases in the cost of gasoline and food. During the same period, they've experienced a comparable decrease in the amount left to spend on all other goods and services. Each of you may be experiencing the impact of inflation as you read these words. College tuition and fees have increased 440 percent since 1980. Meanwhile the average family's income has risen less than 150 percent.<sup>15</sup> Because the cost of college has outpaced average family income, more students have been forced to take out additional student loans and families must spend a greater percentage of their household budgets to send children to college. Consequently, university marketing professionals are increasingly tasked with providing evidence of the value of higher education to current and future students. Their strategy includes increasing career service staffs, offering more integrated course programs, and spending more time educating people about the financial benefits of a college degree.

**Consumer Confidence** Consumer spending accounts for more than twothirds of U.S. economic activity. The amount consumers are willing and able to spend is often based on their confidence in the stability of their future income. As a result,



Source: Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, "FRED Graph," n.d., http:// research.stlouisfed.org/fred2/graph/?utm\_source=research&utm\_ medium=website&utm\_campaign=data-tools. consumer confidence can provide an effective measure of the health of the economy. **Consumer confidence** measures how optimistic consumers are about the overall state of the economy and their own personal finances.

Consumers purchase more when consumer confidence is high. If the economy contracts and people lose jobs, consumer confidence decreases, leading to more saving and less spending. The effects of decreasing consumer confidence were seen in the United States during the most recent recession. Figure 3.3 illustrates the changes in consumer confidence and the subsequent change in real consumer spending over the past couple of decades. The green line reflects consumer confidence; the red line illustrates the change in real consumer spending over the same time period. As you can see, these measures often trend together, though there isn't an exact correlation between the two.

Marketers who can find strategic ways to help consumers feel confident about their purchases can improve performance during challenging times. For example, in 2009 Hyundai recognized that U.S. consumers were not confident in buying a new car because they feared



Hyundai's Buyer Assurance program, which focused on addressing low consumer confidence due to a weak economy, allowed the car company to increase domestic sales, profits, and market share during an economic recession. *Jonathan Weiss/Shutterstock* 

losing their jobs. In response, Hyundai launched the Buyer Assurance program. The program allowed Hyundai buyers to return their car within 12 months, no questions asked, if they lost their job.<sup>16</sup> Hyundai identified and tapped into basic and powerful consumer fears to develop a strategy that sought to help consumers feel more confident in purchasing. This strategy helped Hyundai increase market share significantly; its sales increased by 22 percent while the rest of the auto industry saw declining sales in the year after the promotion launched.<sup>17</sup>

Marketers cannot dictate the state of the economic environment. Instead, they must develop marketing strategies to position their firm for success, regardless of economic factors. From 2008 to 2010, with consumer confidence low due to the recession, Subway was looking for a value offering to compete against other restaurant chains that were expanding their low-price menus. A local Subway franchise in Miami first offered footlong sandwiches for only \$5 on the weekends.<sup>18</sup> When the stores offering the promotion had lines out the doors,



Photo by Shannon Kaye Portrait Design

# **Executive Perspective ...** because everyone is a marketer

Matt Slick Senior Principal DXC Technology

What is a way you see marketing impacting profitability each day?

Marketing is immensely important because value is perceived, and marketing creates that perception. Any company can obtain a higher price and improved profit when the marketplace perceives value. If you must battle on price between two perceived equals, it's tougher to win and profit will certainly be less.

Subway knew it had a winning marketing strategy. Subway worked with its ad agency to develop the now famous "\$5 Footlong" jingle. More customers upgraded their orders from 6-inch subs to footlongs; others bought a footlong sandwich, ate half, and saved the rest for lunch the next day. The \$5 footlong helped Subway expand domestic sales by 17 percent at a time when virtually all other restaurant chains were watching sales decrease.<sup>19</sup> Just three years after the introduction of the \$5 footlong, Subway surpassed McDonald's; it now operates the most locations of any restaurant chain in the world.<sup>20</sup>

# **Demographic Factors**

Economic factors provide a macro framework for understanding consumer purchase patterns. At the same time, marketers are equally concerned with identifying consumers' demographic characteristics. **Demographics** are the characteristics of human populations that can be used to identify consumer markets. They include things such as age, gender, ethnicity, and education level, all of which influence the products consumers buy. Typical demographic information is readily available from the U.S. Census Bureau and research firms such as Nielsen. Access to demographic information is essential to identifying and characterizing a firm's target markets.

Age Do you consume information in the same way as your parents? Do you consume information the same way you did five years ago? The likely answer to both of these questions is no. Age plays an important role in how consumers process information. This in turn affects what marketing strategy firms should use to reach them.

Each year, the average age of the population of the United States rises. The median age of the U.S. population is expected to grow from age 38 today to age 43 by 2060.<sup>21</sup> Seniors are the fastest-growing demographic group. As illustrated in Figure 3.4, it is projected that by 2035 the older adults will outnumber children in the United States for the first time in history. There are 74 million **Baby Boomers**<sup>22</sup>—the generation of children born between 1946 and 1964. They are retiring from the workforce at a rate of 10,000 per day.<sup>23</sup> Members of this generation typically possess two things that marketing professionals seek: disposable income and free time. **Disposable income** is the amount of spending money available to households after paying taxes.

Baby Boomers represent the wealthiest generation in U.S. history; when they retire, they have free time to spend some of their wealth. Rapidly retiring Baby Boomers make up only a quarter of the U.S. population but account for 50 percent of all domestic consumer spending.<sup>24</sup> In an effort to reach this demographic, firms are making changes to encourage older Americans to shop at their stores. Paint retailer Sherwin-Williams has



redesigned its 3,400 stores by adding more lighting and seating, to make them more comfortable for older shoppers. Pharmacy CVS Caremark has retrofitted its stores to appeal to older shoppers by lowering shelves and adding carpeting to reduce slipping.<sup>25</sup> However, the news is not all positive for marketers looking to target Boomers. Older adults are more likely to complain and often require more special attention and resources than their younger counterparts.

Some of you reading this belong to a generational cohort known as **Millennials**, the generation of children born between 1981 and the late twentieth century. Also known as *Generation Y*, Millennials comprise over 75 million members in the United States.<sup>26</sup> They are the second-largest generational group behind the Baby Boomers. Millennials generally have the greatest familiarity with and most use for digital communication, social media, and other forms of technology.

The characteristics of human populations that can be used to identify consumer markets.

#### **Baby Boomers**

The generation born between 1946 and 1964.

#### disposable income

The amount of spending money available to households after paying taxes.

#### Millennials

The generation born between 1978 and the late twentieth century. Also known as *Generation Y.* 

Marketers trying to reach this large consumer group increasingly deliver their messages using channels, like the Internet, that are most likely to be used by this market. For example, Gap targeted Millennials by promoting its brand on the Internet and participating in design collaborations with fashion blogs that are popular with younger consumers.<sup>27</sup> In 2015, Millennials became the largest share of the U.S. workforce, and their importance to marketers will only grow in the decades ahead.<sup>28</sup>

Many of you reading this belong to a generational cohort known as *Generation Z*. the generation of children born between 1997 and 2012. Gen Zers are more diverse, more highly educated, and less likely to move than previous generations.<sup>29</sup> The typical Gen Z consumer uses 1 to 10 apps per day and a majority are willing to pay for music apps. Music app providers like Spotify focus on providing additional content and perks for younger consumers to stay on one platform, by tapping into Gen Z consumers' desire to connect by offering features that recommend local concerts to users based on their music preferences. Spotify's partnership with Songkick and Pandora's acquisition of Ticketfly provide additional evidence of how important nondigital experiences remain in today's digital age.<sup>30</sup>

# connect Exercise 3-1



Social Media in Action Financial advisers across the globe, including independent advisers running their own small businesses, are increasingly recognizing the importance of marketing themselves on social media. Financial advisers are using social media to win business at the highest rate in their history. An annual survey from Putnam Investments found that 97 percent of financial advisers use social media for business. The share of advisers acquiring clients through social media jumped from 49 percent in 2013 to 86 percent in 2018. Indeed, regardless of industry, social media are increasingly important to winning the business of fast-paced, tech-savvy consumers.

> Financial advisers of all ages are adjusting to their changing marketing environment. LinkedIn is the network of choice of advisers for their business, with 73 percent reporting they use it, compared with 56 percent who use Facebook and 46 percent who report using Twitter for business. Use of other platforms for business is also growing: 42 percent of advisers indicate they use Yelp, 39 percent use YouTube, and 34 percent use Instagram for business. Advisers are using different social networks for different business reasons. For example, they may use LinkedIn to get more referrals and connect with other financial professionals. They may try to develop closer relationships with small business clients and prospects by, say, sharing a Facebook article about cycling with clients who are cycling enthusiasts.

> The Social Media in Action Connect exercise in Chapter 3 asks you to develop different social media marketing strategies for a small business. By understanding how social media can help small businesses in different industries, you will be able to apply these strategies in the service of a small business you might work for or own in the years ahead.

Source: https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20180403006208/en/ Financial-Advisors-Broadly-View-Social-Media-Disruptive

**Gender** One of the most important changes in the United States in recent decades has been the roles, attitudes, and buying habits of people in the marketplace. Historically, female consumers were targeted for a much less diverse set of goods and services than men. Today women take on the role of decision maker across a large and expanding variety of products. Female consumers now account for 85 percent of all consumer purchase decisions in the United States, including everything from cars to groceries to health care.<sup>31</sup> Women are responsible for more than half of the new-car purchases in the United States. Seventy-five percent of women identify themselves as the primary shopper in their household.<sup>32</sup>

Their control over the majority of consumer spending makes women a target market across products. Marketers at Toyota targeted their promotional activities for the Sienna minivan toward female buyers with a marketing campaign titled "Swagger Wagon." The campaign appealed emotionally to female consumers who did not want parenthood to take away from their ability to drive a cool car. Delivered via television and over two dozen YouTube videos, the ads featured a woman and her family describing how the Sienna fit their lifestyle rather than a list of features. "Swagger Wagon" generated over 5 million YouTube hits and was named one of the top marketing campaigns of the year.<sup>33</sup>

**Education** Historically, highly educated consumers are more likely to be employed than are those with less education. As Figure 3.5 shows, even during the height of the recession that began in December 2007 or the COVID-19 recession in 2020, the unemployment rate for college-educated workers was approximately half that of the nation as a whole.<sup>34</sup> Though the trend in the unemployment rate for college-educated consumers mirrors the trend for the rest of the population, their overall unemployment numbers remain low in comparison.

The United States has been pushing over the past decade to lead the world in college graduation rates.<sup>35</sup> As a result, the number of professional workers with college degrees is expected to increase significantly in the coming years. Educated consumers



are likely to earn significantly more money throughout the course of their lifetimes and also may more readily comprehend an advertiser's message. These factors make highly educated consumers prime targets for marketing strategies. The increase in the average education level of the country will continue to give marketers new opportunities.

**Ethnicity** The ethnic composition of the U.S. population is changing rapidly. Projections indicate that by 2050 the Hispanic population in the United States will almost double to more than 127 million, representing over 30 percent of the entire U.S. population.<sup>36</sup> The African American population in the United States grew at rate that outpaced the 12 percent population growth for the country as a whole.<sup>37</sup> Asian Americans now represent the highest-income, best-educated, and fastest-growing racial group in the United States, thereby increasing their purchasing power and importance to marketers.<sup>38</sup> Figure 3.6 illustrates changes in the ethnic breakdown of the United States over the past decade and changes projected for the decades ahead.

The United States is moving rapidly toward greater multiculturalism. Ethnic minorities' purchasing power was \$3.8 trillion in 2018 and expected to grow significantly over the next decade.<sup>39</sup> Marketers already have taken basic steps to reach out to different ethnic groups. Advertising in multiple languages is one such step. Food company General Mills's research showed that consumers of Hispanic ethnicity prefer to buy the brands of goods and services they see advertised on television. The company significantly increased the number of ads it ran on Spanish-language media. When it did so, it saw sales of popular General Mills products like Progresso



soup and Honey Nut Cheerios soar.<sup>40</sup> As the ethnic makeup of the United States continues to change, marketing professionals will need to keep studying different ethnic groups and their buying behavior.

## **Sociocultural Factors**

#### sociocultural

The combination of social and cultural factors that affect individual development.

Our society and culture help shape our beliefs, values, and norms, which, in turn, define our tastes and purchasing habits. **Sociocultural** factors are the combination of social and cultural factors that affect individual development.

One of the biggest sociocultural changes in the United States over the past half century has been the shift from a nation of primarily one-income families, in which one spouse stayed home to raise children. Today, two-income families and single-parent households predominate. Less than 15 percent of U.S. households consist of a working parent and a stay-at-home parent.<sup>41</sup>

The new sociocultural reality of busy families has created opportunities for firms to offer new kinds of value. Banks, for example, have expanded their offerings to include later evening hours and more services through ATMs. They've also launched additional online banking options, like online check depositing, that give busy consumers more opportunities to use the bank's services.

Other sociocultural changes are taking place in the United States—an increasing number of single adults, rising concerns about protecting consumer privacy, and the growth in environmentally conscious consumers. Such changes provide firms with many reasons to market products in new and better ways. For example, in response to the increase in consumer demand for environmentally friendly goods and services, car manufacturers have increased their hybrid and electric-car offerings. Marketers of personal care products have introduced a wider selection of natural and organic items.

Cultural differences can also influence how consumers respond to advertisements and other marketing messages. For example, Asian American participants in one research study heavily favored preventive messages, such as the suggestion that a product can reduce the risk of cancer.<sup>42</sup> Anglo American participants preferred messages for that same product that are more promotional, that highlight the potential benefits, such as that it can produce higher energy levels. Such cultural differences provide marketers important insights into how to most effectively reach different consumers.



Oscar Mayer's Lunchables, which typically include crackers, cheese, and meat slices, appeal to busier families looking for a convenient way to prepare their children's lunch. *Michael Neelon(misc)/ Alamy Stock Photo* 

#### **Political Factors**

Firms must understand how the changing political climate affects them. They then can develop marketing strategies that will lead to success under various conditions. The political climate in the United States can change the direction of government policy quickly. Such change also can affect how marketers position their products. For example, video game marketers were very concerned about legislation proposed in Pennsylvania in 2018 that would add a 10 percent tax on the purchase of all mature-rated video games in the state.<sup>43</sup> The proposed tax would raise the cost of purchasing these types of video games and could force marketers to reconsider their target market and positioning strategies. They might need to replace lost revenue from consumers who could no longer afford to buy as many products with sales to other market segments or develop more new products that will not carry the mature label. Pennsylvania and many other states continue to deal with political pressure to reduce youth violence.

Firms need not be completely passive when it comes to the political decisions that affect their businesses. It's becoming increasingly possible for firms to affect politics. For example, the number and influence of *political action committees (PACs)* have increased dramatically in the past two decades. PACs raise money to help elect individuals who regard their organization positively or to promote a particular issue related to their industry. Some PACs lobby government officials on issues that affect marketing, such as restrictions on certain types of advertising or protection of consumers' rights. For example, in 2015 the American Medical Association (AMA) announced it would seek curbs on the ability of pharmaceutical companies to market prescription drugs like Eli Lilly's Cialis, Pfizer's Viagra, and AstraZeneca's Crestor on television. The pharmaceutical lobby, which is one of the top 10 spenders among all lobbyists, pledged to fight this curb; it wants to protect the ability for pharmaceutical companies to advertise directly to consumers. If the AMA is successful, the curb could decrease marketers' ability to generate revenue from consumers and change the legal environment within the pharmaceutical industry.<sup>44</sup>

## **Legal Factors**

The legal system is another factor of the external environment that affects how firms market their products. Marketing professionals need to know and work within the laws that affect marketing. Table 3.1 highlights some of the U.S. laws that are most important to understanding the marketing environment.

Federal, state, and local governments enact regulations for two main purposes:

 To ensure businesses compete fairly with each other. For example, the Sherman Antitrust Act (1890) was passed to eliminate monopolies and guarantee competition. The Robinson-Patman Act (1936) refined prohibitions on selling the same product at different prices. The Wheeler-Lea Act (1938) made deceptive and misleading advertising illegal. These laws are among those enforced by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), which serves as the consumer protection agency for the

# Federal Trade Commission (FTC)

The consumer protection agency for the United States.

Legislation (Year Enacted)	Importance to Marketing
Sherman Antitrust Act (1890)	Combats anticompetitive practices, reduces market domination by individual corporations, and preserves unfettered competition as the rule of trade.
Robinson–Patman Act (1936)	Prohibits firms from selling the same product at different prices in interstate commerce unless based on a cost difference or if the goods are not of similar quality.
Wheeler–Lea Amendment (1938)	Authorizes the Federal Trade Commission to restrict unfair or deceptive acts; also called the <i>Advertising Act</i> . Broadened the Federal Trade Commission's powers to include protection of consumers from false advertising practices.
Fair Packaging and Labeling Act (1966)	Applies to labels on many consumer products. It requires the label to state the identity of the product; the name and place of business of the manufacturer, packer, or distributor; and the net quantity of contents.
Telephone Consumer Protection Act (1991)	Limits commercial solicitation calls to between 8 a.m. and 9 p.m. Requires telemarketers to maintain a do-not-call list and honor any request to not be called again.
Credit Card Accountability, Responsibility, and Disclosure Act (2009)	Protects consumer rights and abolishes deceptive lending practices.

#### TABLE 3.1 U.S. Laws That Affect Marketers

United States. The FTC collects complaints about organizations that violate regulations; those complaints lead to investigations and possible prosecutions.

2. To ensure businesses don't take advantage of consumers. For example, the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act (1966) guarantees that product packages are labeled correctly. The Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991 has reduced the use of *telemarketing*, or selling products directly to consumers over the telephone. The act allows consumers to limit the number of telemarketing calls they receive and opt out of being called by some companies.<sup>45</sup>

In addition, banks and other financial institutions were required to change how they dealt with consumers following passage of the Credit Card Accountability, Responsibility, and Disclosure (CARD) Act of 2009. The law banned unfair credit card rate increases. It also required that disclosures regarding minimum payments and interest rates be made in plain English, to better protect consumers.<sup>46</sup>

Companies often spend significantly through their PACs to protect their legal position and make sure that new laws are as favorable to them as possible. In 2018, Amazon spent more than \$3 million per quarter lobbying for laws impacting government procurement and cloud modernization. Facebook spent almost \$3.5 million during one three-month period lobbying for a variety of legal changes on issues ranging from trade to high-skilled immigration.<sup>47</sup>

# **Technological Factors**

Of all the external factors, rapidly evolving technology represents one of the most significant challenges, and one of the most significant opportunities, for marketing professionals. Technology influences how consumers satisfy their needs and wants, the basic concept underlying all marketing activities. For example, if you had been at college in the early 1990s and heard a song on the radio you wanted to buy, you had a couple of options: You could buy the song as a single on compact disc (CD) for \$3 to \$5. Or you could buy the artist's entire album on CD for \$15 to \$20, even though the album was filled with nine other songs you didn't care about. Technology changed the market: Apple's iPod and iTunes Store now allow consumers to purchase only the specific songs they like, for as little as \$0.99. This technological advancement has forever changed the way consumers purchase music.

Technology also changes how firms promote their products. In recent years, a growing number of consumers have abandoned the traditional landline telephone in favor of smartphones. This technology-driven change gives marketers new ways to reach consumers: Applications track consumer locations, making it possible for marketers to know where a customer is. Marketers can then send electronic coupons, such as those provided by Groupon, to the customer's smartphone, with an offer for that moment and location. Imagine walking through downtown Chicago around dinner time and receiving an electronic coupon for a deep-dish pizza restaurant less than a block from where you are. In fact, we don't have to imagine such a scenario. These tools are available today, and they illustrate how technology can change the way firms market to consumers. Walt Disney World Resort uses technology to provide a more hassle-free experience at its theme parks. In 2013, Disney introduced MagicBands, which are wristbands enabled with a radio-frequency identification device (RFID) chip. MagicBands function as a room key and park entry pass for guests at Disney's parks.<sup>48</sup> The MagicBand can also be linked to a Walt Disney World Resort hotel guest's hotel bill, making purchases within the parks easier and quicker. Beyond the added value of improving the guest experience, MagicBands also provide marketers with useful information. By tracking consumers' ride and purchasing patterns, Disney can design attractions to best meet customer needs and wants.



New technology, such as Disney's MagicBands, not only delivers convenience to consumers but also provides marketers with valuable information about a customer's purchasing patterns and habits. *Gregg Matthews/The New York Times/Redux Pictures* 

# Exercise 3-2

Please complete the *Connect* exercise in Chapter 3 that focuses on the external factors that affect marketers. The exercise asks you to identify how external factors affect large organizations. By doing this exercise, you will better understand how forces outside the marketing department's control can influence decisions the firm must make.

# INTERNATIONAL MARKETING ENVIRONMENT

Recent estimates put the world's population at almost 8 billion people. Experts predict that it will grow to almost 10 billion people by the year 2050.<sup>49</sup> For some firms, analyzing external factors as they occur in the United States is sufficient. Increasingly, though, even small businesses and firms that sell primarily to U.S. customers are affected by global trends, events, and competitors. The process of environmental scanning must take into account the international marketing environment as well.

In theory, the key external factors that affect a firm in the international space don't differ substantially from those in the domestic space. Consumers' age, education level, and gender still matter. The political and legal systems within a given country often dictate how easy it will be to sell and distribute products there. And a country's level of technological advancement has important implications for how the firm promotes its product to the local population. In practice, though, environmental scanning on a global scale often has added layers of complexity. In this section, we'll discuss some of the factors that marketers should be aware of when analyzing the international marketing environment.

#### LO 3-3

Extend the analysis of the marketing environment beyond the borders of the United States.



## **Currency Fluctuation**

*Currency fluctuation* refers to how the value of one country's currency changes in relation to the value of other currencies. Currency fluctuation can affect either positively or negatively how firms market products internationally. The outcome depends on one's perspective: Consider, for example, the currency exchange rate between the U.S. dollar (\$) and the European Union's currency, the euro ( $\in$ ). The currency exchange rate is the price of one country's currency in terms of another country's currency. In December 2020,  $\in$ 1 was worth \$1.22. One year later, in December 2021, the same  $\in$ 1 was worth \$1.14.<sup>50</sup> As the value of the euro depreciated relative to the dollar, it increased the spending power of American consumers seeking to buy European products. In contrast, as the dollar appreciated, American goods and services became more expensive to consumers in Europe.

The world's largest country in terms of population, China, has been criticized for undervaluing its currency, that is, pricing the yuan lower than it is actually worth. Many nations believe this tactic gives China an advantage in selling exports because it can price its products cheaper than other countries' products. Financial experts and government officials believe the yuan could appreciate in the years ahead.<sup>51</sup> U.S. marketers ranging from Coca-Cola to General Motors are stepping up advertising and distribution efforts in China, to entice consumers in China to buy more of their products. Due to the stronger yuan-to-dollar exchange rate, the U.S. products now cost Chinese consumers less.

Whether a currency is appreciating or depreciating, currency fluctuations can provide marketing opportunities. For example, let's say the value of the euro increases relative to the dollar. That change may encourage more families from Europe to travel to Walt Disney World in Orlando, Florida, because they could do so cheaply. Disney marketers could target these families with advertisements promoting the idea that there has never been a better time to go to a theme park in the United States. It's important for marketers working in the international environment to understand the effect of currency fluctuations on product value.

## **Income Distribution**

A country's income distribution often provides the most reliable picture of its purchasing power. Marketers are particularly attracted to countries with a growing middle class because a nation's purchasing capability tends to increase as the proportion of middleincome households increases. For example, income growth in developing nations in Asia and Latin America is likely to stimulate world trade as more of their residents move into the middle class.

Figure 3.7 illustrates how the percentage of middle-class consumption in key Asian countries is projected to change in comparison to the United States over the next few decades. As you can see, the percentage of middle-class consumption in India may outstrip that of the United States by the year 2050. Even countries that don't have a rapidly increasing middle class may have higher purchasing power than may be apparent from initial statistics, due to government subsidies for food, transportation, or health care.

Continuously scanning the global economic environment is an important aspect of doing business in international markets. In addition, marketers are increasingly using metrics to analyze international markets.

# **Using Metrics to Analyze International Markets**



Evaluating the international marketing environment is a complex process. It requires marketers to interpret a significant amount of information in order to make the best decisions. Marketers have a variety of tools that can help them analyze the international

#### currency exchange rate

The price of one country's currency in terms of another country's currency.

marketing environment. For example, Google Analytics allows you to quickly see what countries visitors to your website are from, how many pages they visited, and how long they stayed on the site. Google Analytics can also help marketers evaluate what consumers from different countries are searching for on their sites. Such search data help provide insight into the external international environment and evolving consumer preferences.

Using analytics tools like these, combined with information about income distribution and currency fluctuation, provides marketers with a clearer picture of the international environment affecting their organization.

# Major Trade Agreements and Organizations

In addition to scanning the international economic environment, marketing professionals must possess a working knowledge of major trade

agreements and international organizations. These could govern their firm's interaction with international markets. Whether you work for a firm such as Bank of America that is planning to expand in China or a small rice farm hoping to sell more products to European countries, you will need a basic understanding of each of these agreements and organizations to successfully navigate the international marketplace.

International trade agreements, monetary unions, and organizations can have substantial impact on the environment in which a firm operates. They can affect how easy it is for firms to enter a foreign market, what the currency exchange rate is between countries, and even what competition firms will encounter in the domestic market. Trade agreements and monetary unions facilitate the exchange of money and products across borders. International organizations provide regulatory oversight to economic activity. In the sections that follow, we'll discuss the key entities you should be aware of.

**North American Free Trade Agreement** Perhaps the most familiar U.S. trade agreement is the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA). The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) established a free-trade zone among the United States, Canada, and Mexico. Its goal was to eliminate barriers to trade and investment among the three countries. As Figure 3.8 shows, the United States exports more products to Canada and Mexico than to any other individual country. This is largely because NAFTA made exchange among the three countries so easy.

One of the key barriers to international trade is **tariffs**, which are taxes on imports and exports between countries. NAFTA's implementation on January 1, 1994, brought the immediate elimination of tariffs on more than one-half of U.S. imports from Mexico and



#### LO 3-4

Identify the major trade agreements, monetary unions, and organizations that affect the international marketing environment.



#### North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA)

An international agreement that established a free-trade zone among the United States, Canada, and Mexico.

#### tariffs

Taxes on imports and exports between countries.



more than one-third of U.S. exports to Mexico. Within 10 years of implementation, all U.S.-Mexico tariffs were eliminated, except for some on U.S. agricultural exports to Mexico that were to be phased out within 15 years. Most U.S.-Canada trade was already free of tariffs. NAFTA also sought to eliminate nontariff trade barriers such as embargoes or sanctions.

In 2018, the three countries reached a new deal to replace NAFTA, which will be known as the **United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA)**. One goal of the new deal is to have more cars and truck parts made in North America. Starting in 2020, to qualify for zero tariffs, a car or truck has to have 75 percent of its components manufactured in Canada, Mexico, or the United States. The agreement also makes significant upgrades to environmental and labor regulations, opens up Canadian dairy markets for farmers in the United States, and provides more-stringent protections for patents and trademarks.<sup>52</sup>

#### Dominican Republic–Central America Free Trade Agree-

**ment** A decade after NAFTA was implemented, the United States entered discussions about a new agreement with the Central American countries of Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua. This agreement was called the *Central America Free Trade Agreement (CAFTA)*. In 2004, the Dominican Republic joined the

#### United States–Mexico– Canada Agreement (USMCA)

A trade agreement between the United States, Mexico, and Canada passed in 2018 that supports free trade among those countries. negotiations, and the agreement was renamed Dominican Republic-Central America Free Trade Agreement. Like NAFTA, the **Dominican Republic-Central America Free Trade Agreement (DR-CAFTA)** focuses on eliminating tariffs, reducing nontariff barriers, and facilitating investment among the member states.

With the addition of the Dominican Republic, the trade group's largest economy, the region covered by DR-CAFTA is the second-largest Latin American export market for U.S. producers behind Mexico. It buys over \$31 billion worth of goods from the United States a year.<sup>53</sup> Trade between the United States and countries covered under this agreement amounts to about \$60 billion annually.

**European Union** Agreements like NAFTA and DR-CAFTA are designed to ease trade between nations. Entities like the European Union go further, integrating countries to a much larger degree. The European Union (EU) is an economic, political, and monetary union of 27 European nations as of 2022. It was formed to create a single European market by reducing barriers to the free trade of goods, services, and finances among member countries.

In 2021, the EU generated approximately 15 percent of the global gross domestic product, making it one of the largest economies in the world.<sup>54</sup> It is the largest exporter, the largest importer, and the biggest trading partner for several large countries, including China, India, and the United States. However, EU nations such as Greece, Spain, Portugal, and Italy have faced significant economic challenges in recent years. These challenges have had a negative impact on their domestic markets and also make it more difficult for U.S. marketers to sell their products to consumers in those countries.

In 2016, the United Kingdom voted to leave the European Union, which set the stage for years of negotiations between the UK and the other 27 EU nations. The decision was made that Great Britain would leave the EU in 2019, which will continue to impact marketers across the globe in the years ahead.

**World Trade Organization** The World Trade Organization was officially formed on January 1, 1995, under the Marrakech Agreement. The **World Trade Organization (WTO)** regulates trade among participating countries and helps importers and exporters conduct their business. It is the only international organization dealing with the rules of trade between nations.

In addition, the WTO provides a framework for negotiating and formalizing trade agreements and a dispute-resolution process aimed at enforcing participants' adherence to WTO agreements. The WTO, headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland, has 162 members, representing more than 97 percent of the world's population, and over 20 observer nations, most of which are seeking membership.

**International Monetary Fund** Soon after the end of World War II, 29 countries signed an agreement to form the International Monetary Fund. Headquartered in Washington, D.C., the **International Monetary Fund (IMF)** "works to foster international monetary cooperation, secure financial stability, facilitate international trade, promote high employment and sustainable economic growth, and reduce poverty around the world."<sup>55</sup> It was formed to promote international economic cooperation, trade, employment, and currency exchange rate stability. The IMF is governed by the 188 countries that make up its near-global membership.

One of the IMF's important activities is to make resources available to member countries to help them manage their debts. Each country contributes to a pool of financial resources. Countries with debt obligations they can't meet can borrow from this pool, on a temporary basis. When it was first created in 1945, the IMF helped stabilize the world's economic system after World War II. To this day, the IMF works to improve the economies of its member countries.

#### Dominican Republic-Central America Free Trade Agreement (DR-CAFTA)

An international agreement that eliminated tariffs, reduced nontariff barriers, and facilitated investment among the United States, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, and the Dominican Republic.

#### **European Union (EU)**

An economic, political, and monetary union among 27 European nations that created a single European market by reducing barriers to the free trade of goods, services, and finances.

# World Trade Organization (WTO)

An international organization that regulates trade among participating countries and helps importers and exporters conduct their business.

#### International Monetary Fund (IMF)

An international organization that works to foster international monetary cooperation, secure financial stability, facilitate international trade, promote high employment and sustainable economic growth, and reduce poverty around the world.

# **Connect** Exercise **3-3**

Please complete the *Connect* exercise for Chapter 3 that focuses on international trade agreements. By identifying the major aspects of critical trade agreements, you will better understand the international marketing environment and be prepared to develop effective global marketing strategies.

# Technology

Once marketers understand the economic factors and trade agreements and organizations that affect their global activities, they must look more specifically at how best to reach their international audience. Today, technology enables even small businesses to reach consumers around the globe. Websites act as a front door to billions of potential consumers. Social media help companies develop relationships with customers anywhere, for very little cost. Tools such as Google Translate allow customers to view websites in their own language, making it easier to promote products in different countries.

In addition, global shipping firms like FedEx and UPS enable small manufacturers to ship their products to customers around the world. Technology enables both the buyer and the seller to track those shipments. Understanding how technology affects the international marketing environment benefits marketers as they attempt to meet the needs and wants of consumers in global markets.

# **Cultural Fit**

#### consumer ethnocentrism

A belief by residents of a country that it is inappropriate or immoral to purchase foreignmade goods and services.

One of the biggest mistakes domestic firms make when they attempt to take their business global is to believe that what works "at home" will work abroad. It's often a mistake to think that consumers abroad want exactly the same products that are sold in the United States and want them marketed in the same way. Burger King was widely criticized when it created an in-store ad for some European stores that showed a Hindu goddess atop a ham sandwich with the caption, "A snack that is sacred."<sup>56</sup> Many of the nearly 1 billion Hindus throughout the world, most of whom are



Consumer ethnocentrism sometimes presents a challenge to marketers with international operations. Promoting a product in a different way can overcome such challenges. *Nicolas Khayat/Newscom* 

vegetarian, were offended and protested the use of the ad. Burger King eventually pulled it. The negative attention and the potential long-term damage to Burger King's goal of expanding its market illustrate the importance of understanding cultural fit.

A growing concern for firms with overseas operations is consumer ethnocentrism. **Consumer ethnocentrism** refers to a belief by residents of a country that it is inappropriate or immoral to purchase foreign-made goods and services.<sup>57</sup> This belief is on the rise in many developed nations, including the United States, France, Germany, and China. Consumer ethnocentrism is rarely grounded in fact, but the belief makes the marketer's job even more difficult. For example, in 2003, following France's refusal to join the U.S. military operation in Iraq, many U.S. consumers refused to eat french fries, even though there was nothing French about the product. Proactive marketers across the country looked for a clever way to resolve the issue and, for a brief time, renamed their product "freedom fries."

# Today's **Professional**... because everyone is a marketer

# Obinna Okechukwu

# Senior Product Consultant **Docusign**

**Describe your job.** I am a Sr. Product Consultant at DocuSign Inc. I work with enterprises and nonprofit organizations assisting them in their digital transformation projects as they transition from legacy contract systems to a more integrated ecosystem that enables them to align with their strategic goals of operating more seamlessly, efficiently, and effectively in their contract agreement lifecycle processes.

*How did you get your job?* I was contacted by a recruiter on LinkedIn (a networking website) who reached out to me asking if I was

available for a quick chat on an opening the company had. The recruiter told me that while looking up my profile on LinkedIn, she felt I was the right fit for the role. I made an appointment with the recruiter and discussed further about the role and felt it was an exciting opportunity. I had seven interviews with individuals and teams, discussing the role and the responsibilities and how it aligns with my personal goals. After the lengthy interview process, I was offered the position and I will say, I am really glad I accepted the role, it has been an exciting process so far!

What has been the most important thing in making you successful at your job? Willingness to learn and a positive attitude. The learning curve for me in my current role has been rather steep. There are a lot of things I learned in the process and a lot I am still learning. However, without a doubt, the most important tool in my toolbox that has been very effective in making me successful at my job has been a



Obinna Okechukwu

willingness to learn and approaching each day with a positive attitude. Reaching out to colleagues and asking for assistance where needed while helping others and learning from the experience. Seizing every opportunity as a learning opportunity has definitely made me grow in my career.

What advice would you give soon-to-be graduates? Be hungry. I have noticed over the course of my career experience, that most people who rise to the top and excel at what they do are those who always seek opportunities to learn and grow. Once an indi-

vidual no longer realizes opportunities to learn, stagnancy sets in and that becomes a huge disadvantage. Always set higher goals and seek ways to learn as you move toward those goals. Learn to course-correct when you realize you may be heading in the wrong direction. Get feedback from others but always be focused on going one step further than your current step.

What do you consider your personal brand to be? I am very passionate about finding creative solutions to real world problems. I strongly believe almost all problems and challenges can be solved if approached with a creative, pragmatic, and determined solution—not discounting the power of working with smart, motivated individuals. Developing products and or solutions requires an open mind and creative lenses to problem solving and that is a core strength of mine. Analyzing cultural fit and overcoming consumer ethnocentrism are essential aspects of environmental scanning on a global scale that help firms create value for international consumers.

# connect Exercise 3-4

Please complete the *Connect* exercise in Chapter 3 that focuses on how cultural fit affects the international marketing environment. By understanding which domestic firms and products are more likely to fit with the culture in specific foreign countries, you will be able to develop a more effective global marketing strategy.

# NONPROFIT MARKETING ENVIRONMENT

LO 3-5

Describe the emerging factors that influence the nonprofit marketing environment.



Environmental scanning for a nonprofit organization presents challenges that for-profit businesses do not face. Those who donate money to a nonprofit such as a hospital, university, or faith-based institution do not walk away with a tangible product or benefit directly from any service. Instead, nonprofit marketers must convince donors to support the mission of the organization without receiving any direct benefit. Nonprofits primarily rely on three sources of funding–grants, special events, and individual donations. Marketing generally plays an important role in securing each.

The competitive environment for nonprofit funding has increased dramatically in recent years. In 1995, there were only 600,000 nonprofits in the United States. Today, that number is over 1.8 million and growing rapidly.<sup>58</sup> A 300 percent increase in the number of nonprofit organizations isn't the only hurdle. In addition, the total donations to nonprofit organizations dipped from 2007 to 2009 as the recession worsened. Figure 3.9 illustrates total giving to nonprofit organizations since 1974, including the dip during the recession.



For nonprofit marketers to be successful in this type of competitive environment, they must understand the external environment in which they operate. They are affected by many of the same external factors discussed earlier in the chapter: economic, legal, political, and technological factors. However, due to their mission and chronic lack of funds, the impact can be quite different.

## **Economic Factors**

During the recession that began in December 2007, Americans reduced their overall charitable giving by over 20 percent from levels prior to the recession.<sup>59</sup> The decline was far sharper than in previous economic recessions.

One strategy nonprofit marketers are using to combat that change is to develop new ways to recognize existing donors for their contributions. For example, a hospital might display a digital recognition system in its front lobby, listing donors of all sizes. These new methods foster pride and enthusiasm in donors about how their efforts improve the lives of others.

# **Political Factors**

In addition to its economic impact, the recession led to political pressure to reduce federal, state, and municipal budgets. This, in turn, has forced many nonprofit organizations to fund basic programs in innovative ways. Public universities, which receive a substantial portion of their funding from their respective state legislatures, have been hit especially hard. Figure 3.10 highlights the decrease in state funding as a percentage of total projected revenues at Temple University in the last decade. This trend is consistent across many public universities throughout the United States.

In order to increase student financial aid and faculty retention, universities must raise more money from alumni and other supporters. The marketing department at the University of Colorado had success by increasing the campus profile of *planned gifts*. These are bequests, given to the nonprofit upon the death of the donor. Planned gifts became a major part of the University of Colorado's increased fundraising success. The university developed new packets of information for planned giving and promoted the program at all types of university events. This form of giving delivered value to donors: It did not require them to sacrifice financially during their lives but helped them leave a legacy at the university they loved. In the first year after the marketing program began, the University of Colorado saw a 700 percent increase in bequests that will help students and the university for generations to come.<sup>60</sup>

#### Legal Factors

In addition to the economic and political factors that have challenged nonprofits, several new laws and regulations have had an impact as well. The benefit that nonprofit marketers offer to potential donors typically includes some combination of information about how the donation will be used, how the donor will be recognized, and the tax incentives (e.g., the tax deductibility of charitable gifts) that will accompany the donation.



**Source:** Temple University, "2012–13 Commonwealth Appropriation Budget Request," February 22, 2012, http://temple.edu/sites/temple/ files/uploads/documents/Attachment\_9-2012-Table\_5-Generated\_ Revenue.pdf. Legal changes to the tax-incentive element can alter the way marketing professionals communicate the organization's value to potential donors. For example, wealthy contributors—those making over \$10 million per year—are the largest donors to numerous charities throughout the state of New York. The state proposed a law that restricts the amount of charitable contributions that very wealthy people can deduct from their taxes.<sup>61</sup> Nonprofit marketing professionals worry that such changes in the tax law, whether in New York or other states, or on federal tax returns, will act as a disincentive, further challenging fundraising efforts in a difficult economy. They fear that, without tax incentives, charitable giving may decline. Such legal changes have made it increasingly necessary for nonprofit firms to develop programs that generate more first-time contributors, to make up for potential reductions from high-income donors.

## **Technology Factors**

Many nonprofit organizations utilize new technology to increase awareness and enhance relationships with donors. The rise of social media has changed the nonprofit landscape in important ways. Organizations such as Greenpeace, Amnesty International, and the Sierra Club have benefited from the appeal of social media.



Many nonprofit organizations, such as Big Brothers Big Sisters, use social media to deepen engagement with stakeholders as part of their marketing strategy. *Source: Big Brothers Big Sisters of America*  Social media sites let them engage interested parties through more personal connections than through more mainstream platforms.

When it comes to organizing activists, conducting charity campaigns, or simply influencing communities and stakeholders, social media offer nonprofit organizations substantial advantages. For example, in 2013 Big Brothers Big Sisters of America used Facebook to reunite program participants with their big brother or big sister from childhood. This use of social media deepened engagement among new members and increased loyalty, interest, and volunteer retention. The project was successful in reengaging many individuals who had prior contact with the organization and retaining them as volunteers in the future.

# SUMMARY



Cindy Ord/Getty Images Entertainment/Getty Images

**LO 3-1** Differentiate between direct and indirect competition.

The competitive environment includes the direct competitors a firm faces and the indirect competitors seeking to take market share and profits. The most commonly discussed form of competition is direct com-

petition. Direct competition occurs when products performing the same function compete against each other. Indirect compe-



Brian Killian/Getty Images Enertainment/Getty Images

tition occurs when products provide an alternative solution to the same market.

**LO 3-2** Summarize the major external factors that influence the marketing environment.

Six major external factors influence the marketing environment: economic,

demographic, sociocultural, political, legal, and technological. Economic factors like GDP, consumer confidence, and income distribution influence almost every marketing decision a firm makes. Demographics, including age, gender, education level, and ethnicity, indicate the characteristics of human populations and groups that are used to identify consumer markets. Sociocultural refers to the combination of social and cultural factors that affect individual development and help shape consumers' tastes and purchasing habits.

Political factors result from actions of federal, state, and local governments. These entities enact regulations to promote two key objectives: that businesses compete fairly with each other and that they don't take advantage of consumers. Legal changes, such as new laws that protect consumers against unfair practices related to credit cards, continue to refine the way marketers promote their goods and services. Technological change affects how consumers use products and the way firms promote their products.



**LO 3-3** Extend the analysis of the marketing environment beyond the borders of the United States.

The currency exchange rate, which is the price of one country's currency in terms of

another country's currency, affects how firms market products internationally. A country's income distribution often gives the most reliable picture of a country's purchasing power. Marketers are particularly attracted to countries with a growing middle class; a nation's purchasing capability tends to increase as the proportion of middle-income households increases. Marketers also must understand how technology can facilitate communicating and delivering value to consumers around the world and how the firm's goods and services fit with different cultures.



**LO 3-4** Identify the major trade agreements, monetary unions, and organizations that affect the international marketing environment.

Nicolas Khayat/ Newscom

The North American Free Trade Agreement

(NAFTA) established a free-trade zone among the United States, Canada, and Mexico. NAFTA was replaced in 2018 by the United States–Mexico–Canada Agreement (USMCA). The Dominican Republic–Central America Free Trade Agreement (DR-CAFTA) is a free-trade agreement among the United States, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, and the Dominican Republic.

The European Union (EU) is a single European market, created to reduce barriers to the free trade of products, services, and finances among member countries. The World Trade Organization (WTO) supervises international trade. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) is an intergovernmental organization that promotes international economic cooperation and offers a pool of funds that can be borrowed on a short-term basis.



Source: Big Brothers Big Sisters of America **LO 3-5** Describe the emerging factors that influence the nonprofit marketing environment.

The competitive environment for nonprofit funding has increased dramatically in recent years. The number of

nonprofits in the United States has tripled since 1995 and now stands at more than 1.8 million. For nonprofit marketers to successfully compete for funding, they must understand the external environment in which their organization operates. Changes to external economic, political, legal, and technological factors can affect nonprofit marketers' strategies, restrictions, and resources.

# **KEY TERMS**

Baby Boomers (p. 78) consumer confidence (p. 76) consumer ethnocentrism (p. 90) currency exchange rate (p. 86) demographics (p. 78) direct competition (p. 72) disposable income (p. 78) Dominican Republic–Central America Free Trade Agreement (DR-CAFTA) (p. 89) environmental scanning (p. 73) European Union (EU) (p. 89) Federal Trade Commission (FTC) (p. 83) gross domestic product (GDP) (p. 74) indirect competition (p. 72) inflation (p. 75) International Monetary Fund (IMF) (p. 89) marketing environment (p. 72) Millennials (p. 78) North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) (p. 87) purchasing power (p. 76) recession (p. 74) sociocultural (p. 82) substitute products (p. 72) tariffs (p. 87) United States–Mexico–Canada Agreement (USMCA) (p. 88) World Trade Organization (WTO) (p. 89)

# **MARKETING PLAN EXERCISE • Marketing Yourself**

In this chapter we discussed the importance of analyzing the marketing environment. In the next section of the marketing plan exercise, you will analyze the environment you will be entering upon graduation. Your assignment is to prepare a market summary for the job or graduate school program you discussed as your objective in Chapter 1. If your objective is a specific job or career, you need to answer questions like:

- What is the average salary?
- What are the companies that are best positioned to offer the kind of job you want?

- Are there jobs in this field located where you want to live?
- What is the total size and growth rate of the industry you are planning to enter?
- What is the current unemployment rate in that field, and what percentage of jobs are filled by new college graduates?
- If your objective is graduate school, you need to answer questions like:
- What schools offer this program?
- What are those schools' admission statistics (percentage accepted, tuition and fees, financial aid available, etc.)?
- What are the average Grade Point Average (GPA) and entrance exam (LSAT, GMAT, MCAT, etc.) scores?

# **DISCUSSION QUESTIONS**

- With your current university or college in mind, develop a list of the direct and indirect competitors it will face in the next decade.
- 2. Assume you are going to open a new pizza restaurant in the town in which you live. What external factors will affect your business decisions? What types of technology would you use to market your pizza business, and how would you use them?
- 3. Assume you work in marketing for Dr Pepper, and you are looking to expand the brand internationally. You narrow the international target market to three choices: Mexico, Australia, and India. Using the global environmental factors discussed in this chapter—currency fluctuations, income distribution, cultural fit, and technology—rank the countries based on which would provide the best opportunity for

• What is the average starting salary for graduates of these programs?

It is important to conduct an honest environmental assessment. Students sometimes have unrealistic expectations of what their first job out of school or a graduate program may be like. The better you understand the environment you are entering, the better you will be able to market yourself and your skills to succeed in it.

**Your Task:** Write at least a two-paragraph marketing summary describing the environment you will face after graduation.

Dr Pepper's expansion. Explain your ranking for each country.

- 4. Choose a firm that you are familiar with that is located in the same state as your university. Next, decide if the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) and the United States–Mexico–Canada Agreement (USMCA) have been good or bad for that business. Explain your answer. Has NAFTA and/or USMCA been good or bad for all of that firm's stakeholders (investors, employees, communities, etc.), or has it been good for some and bad for others? Explain your answers.
- 5. Choose a nonprofit organization that you think markets itself effectively. Why did you pick that organization? What external factors do you think the organization should be most concerned about?

# Social SOCIAL MEDIA APPLICATION

Choose a charity that you support. It could be anything from Make-A-Wish to the United Way to your local faith-based institution. Analyze the charity's efforts to market itself through social media, using the following questions and activities as a guide:

- 1. What is the charity doing to market itself through social media?
- 2. What grade would you give the organization on its social media efforts and why?
- Provide at least two recommendations for how the charity could improve its social media marketing activities. In addition, provide an example of a charity that you think is doing a great job marketing itself using social media, and describe what it does.





Please complete the *Connect* exercise for Chapter 3 that focuses on analyzing website traffic from international shoppers.

# ETHICAL CHALLENGE -

The economic environment has changed in the past decade due to stock market losses, rising health-care costs, and declining property values. As a result, many older adults were forced to look for new ways to generate income after their working careers ended. One of the primary beneficiaries of this shift was firms marketing reverse mortgages.

Reverse mortgages allow older homeowners to tap into the equity of their home and receive payments against its value. Typically, when the homeowners die, their heirs must repay the loan, including interest and fees. These repayments often come from the heirs' sale of the home.

For the past two decades, the vast majority of reverse mortgages have been offered under the federally insured Home Equity Conversion Mortgages program, which applies to people aged 62 and older.<sup>62</sup> Market factors, including the rising number of seniors in the United States, have led to an increase in advertisements promoting the benefits of these programs. As traditional real estate sales struggled since the collapse of the housing market in 2007, reverse-mortgage loans have become more attractive to lenders.

Like many other industries, the reverse-mortgage business contains two sides of an ethical dilemma. On one side are those marketers who are increasing profits by helping older people access the equity in their home. On the other are those who are potentially taking advantage of desperate seniors who may not fully understand what a reverse mortgage is.

Use the ethical decision-making framework to answer the following questions:

- 1. Which parties are affected by reverse-mortgage marketing strategies?
- If you are a bank hoping to increase profits, would you try to expand your marketing of reverse mortgages to older adults?
- 3. If you are a marketing manager at a bank that has made the strategic decision to grow its reversemortgage business, how would you go about promoting the product?



# **VIDEO CASE**

Please go to Connect to access the video case featuring Task Rabbit that accompanies this chapter.



Photo provided by Erin Brewer

# CAREER **TIPS**

# A Career in the Nonprofit Sector

You have read in this chapter about the marketing environment and how external factors influence that environment for both for-profit and nonprofit organizations. As

you think about your future, you may be considering a career in the nonprofit sector. Erin Brewer has spent over

a decade working for various nonprofit organizations. She offers some tips for securing a nonprofit position.

 Gain experience. Before you start interviewing for full-time positions, get some experience in charity work as a volunteer or an intern. The majority of nonprofits utilize both volunteers and interns, so plenty of opportunities are available. A combination of volunteerism and internships provides the biggest advantage to a job seeker. It shows the hiring nonprofit that you're passionate about helping and that you know how similar organizations function. Some people begin their careers in the nonprofit world to gain significant hands-on experience before making the leap to the corporate world. Others go the reverse route, getting their feet wet on the corporate side, and then taking on positions of greater responsibility in the charitable realm. The same principles of marketing apply to both sides of the spectrum, and the smart professional can readily adapt.

 Craft an effective resume. Communicating who you are on a single piece of paper is a daunting task! Make sure that your resume conveys the right things about you. Be succinct, be compelling, be professional, and show a bit of personality. Highlight your unique accomplishments rather than simply listing your responsibilities. Tailor your resume for each job you apply for. Always run spell check!

Put your intangibles to work. Let your charm, gift for the spoken word, and passion for service shine. Once you have secured an interview, be prepared. Anticipate questions you may be asked and prepare a brief description of yourself and your goals. Be ready to ask some questions of your own. (To this day, I won't hire a candidate who doesn't ask a question.) Use your marketing coursework to your advantage by "spinning" your experience to suit the position you hope to attain. Be polite, be punctual, be honest, and most importantly, be yourself. And always send a thank-you note.

# CHAPTER NOTES

- Marie Charlotte Götting, "Number of Sirius XM Subscribers in the U.S. 2011–2021," *Statista*, April 26, 2022, https:// www.statista.com/statistics/252812/number-of-siriusxms-subscribers/#:<sup>\\*</sup>:text=In%20the%20third%20 guarter%20of,the%20final%20guarter%20of%202019.
- Julie Jargon and Joshua Jamerson, "Wendy's Profit, Revenue Top Expectations," *The Wall Street Journal*, February 9, 2016, http://www.wsj.com/articles/ wendys-profit-revenue-tops-expectations-1455018972.
- "The QSR 50," QSR, n.d., https://www.qsrmagazine.com/ content/qsr50-2018-top-50-chart.
- 4. S. Lock, "Sales of Subway Restaurants in the U.S. 2015–2020," Statista, March 7, 2022, https://www .statista.com/statistics/464277/subway-us-sales/#:": text=Global%20quick%20service%20restaurant%20 (QSR,million%20from%20the%20previous%20 year.&text=Subway%20is%20the%20leading%20 sandwich,of%20its%20closest%20competitor%20Arby's.
- 5. News Release, "Gross Domestic Product, 4th Quarter and Year 2020 (Advance Estimate)," January 28, 2021, https://www.bea.gov/news/2021/gross-domestic-product-4th-quarter-and-year-2020-advance-estimate.
- "U.S. GDP Growth Rate 1961–2022," (n.d.), https://www .macrotrends.net/countries/USA/united-states/gdpgrowth-rate#:":text=U.S.%20gdp%20growth%20rate%20 for,a%200.62%25%20increase%20from%202016.
- Tim Callen, "Gross Domestic Product: An Economy's All," March 28, 2012, http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/ fandd/basics/gdp.htm.
- World Bank, "GDP per Capita (Current US\$)," n.d., https:// data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD.
- 9. Jeff Cox, "It's Official: The COVID Recession Lasted just Two Months, the Shortest in U.S. History," *CNBC*,

July 19, 2021, https://www.cnbc.com/2021/07/19/itsofficial-the-covid-recession-lasted-just-two-months-theshortest-in-us-history.html.

- 10. Rocky Mengle and Kevin McCormally, "Where You Rank as a Taxpayer," *Kiplinger*, January 31, 2019, https://www .kiplinger.com/article/taxes/T056-C000-S001-where-yourank-as-a-taxpayer.html.
- Gene Marchial, "Discount Retailer Dollar General Taking Away Market Share from No. 1 Wal-Mart," *Forbes,* December 29, 2011, http://www.forbes.com/sites/ genemarcial/2011/12/29/discount-retailer-dollar-generaltaking-away-market-share-from-no-1-wal-mart/.
- 12. "The Substance of Style," *The Economist*, September 17, 2009, http://www.economist.com/node/14447276.
- Rachel Siegel and Andrew Van Dam, "December Prices Rise 7 Percent Compared with a Year Ago, as 2021 Inflation Reaches Highest in 40 Years," *The Washington Post*, January 12, 2022, https://www.washingtonpost. com/business/2022/01/12/december-cpi-inflation/.
- 14. Energy.Gov, http://energy.gov/eere/vehicles/fact-835august-25-average-historical-annual-gasoline-pumpprice-1929-2013.
- Louis Lataif, "Universities on the Brink," Forbes, February 1, 2011, http://www.forbes.com/2011/02/01/collegeeducation-bubble-opinions-contributors-louis-lataif.html.
- 16. Stephanie Startz, "Hyundai Formula: Inconspicuous Luxury Plus Empathy," *BrandChannel*, September 22, 2009, http:// www.brandchannel.com/home/post/2009/09/22/Hyundai-Formula-Inconspicuous-Luxury-Plus-Empathy.aspx#.
- Jean Halliday, "Marketer of the Year: Hyundai," Ad Age, November 9, 2009, http://adage.com/article/specialreport-marketer-of-the-year-2009/hyundai-marketer-year-2009/140380/.

- 18. Mathew Boyle, "The Accidental Hero," *Bloomberg Businessweek*, November 5, 2009, http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/09\_46/b4155058815908.htm.
- 19. Mathew Boyle, "The Accidental Hero," *Bloomberg Businessweek*, November 5, 2009, http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/09\_46/b4155058815908.htm.
- 20. Julianne Pepitone, "Subway Beats McDonald's to Become Top Restaurant Chain," *CNNMoney*, March 8, 2011, http://money.cnn.com/2011/03/07/news/ companies/subway\_mcdonalds/index.htm.
- U.S. Census Bureau, "Older People Projected to Outnumber Children for First Time in U.S. History," September 6, 2018, https://www.census.gov/newsroom/ press-releases/2018/cb18-41-population-projections.html.
- 22. Richard Fry, "Millennials Projected to Overtake Baby Boomers as America's Largest Generation," Pew Research Center, March 1, 2018, http://www .pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/03/01/ millennials-overtake-baby-boomers/.
- 23. Glen Kessler, "Do 10,000 Baby Boomers Retire Every Day?" *The Washington Post,* July 24, 2014, https://www .washingtonpost.com/news/fact-checker/wp/2014/07/24/ do-10000-baby-boomers-retire-every-day/.
- 24. Immersion Active, "50+ Facts and Fiction," n.d., http:// www.immersionactive.com/resources/50-plus-factsand-fiction/.
- Ellen Byron, "From Diapers to 'Depends': Marketers Discreetly Retool for Aging Boomers," *The Wall Street Journal*, February 5, 2011, http://online.wsj.com/article/ SB100014240527487040136045761043942090629 96.html.
- 26. Danielle Sacks, "Scenes from the Culture Clash," *Fast Company*, January 1, 2006, http://www.fastcompany. com/54444/scenes-culture-clash.
- 27. Matt Townsend, "Young Consumers Pinch Their Pennies," *Bloomberg Businessweek,* March 22, 2012, http://www .businessweek.com/articles/2012-03-22/young-consumerspinch-their-pennies.
- Richard Fry, "Millennials Are the Largest Generation in the U.S. Labor Force," Pew Research Center, April 11, 2018, http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/05/11/ millennials-surpass-gen-xers-as-the-largest-generationin-u-s-labor-force/.
- 29. Richard Fry and Kim Parker, "Early Benchmarks Show 'Post-Millennials' on Track to Be Most Diverse, Best-Educated Generation Yet," Pew Research Center, November 15, 2018, http://www.pewsocialtrends. org/2018/11/15/early-benchmarks-show-postmillennials-on-track-to-be-most-diverse-best-educatedgeneration-yet/.
- "Marketing Lifehacks for Engaging Generation Z," *Marketing Week,* September 24, 2018, https://www.marketingweek .com/2018/09/24/unidays-generation-z/.
- Elizabeth Segran, "Female Shoppers No Longer Trust Ads or Endorsements," *Fast Company*, September 28, 2015, http://www.fastcompany.com/3051491/mostcreative-people/female-shoppers-no-longer-trust-ads-orcelebrity-endorsements.
- 32. Elizabeth Segran, "Female Shoppers No Longer Trust Ads or Endorsements," *Fast Company*, September 28, 2015, http://www.fastcompany.com/3051491/mostcreative-people/female-shoppers-no-longer-trust-ads-orcelebrity-endorsements.
- Greg Bardsley, "This Year's Top 4 Integrated Campaigns," *iMedia Connection*, September 2, 2010, http://www .imediaconnection.com/content/27503.asp.

- Statista Research Department, "U.S. Unemployment Rate, by Education 1992–2020," *Statista*, May 2, 2022, https://www.statista.com/statistics/232942/unemployment-rateby-level-of-education-in-the-us/.
- 35. Tamar Lewin, "Once a Leader, U.S. Lags in College Degrees," *The New York Times,* July 23, 2010, http://www.nytimes. com/2010/07/23/education/23college.html?\_r=0.
- Haya El Nasser, "U.S. Hispanic Population to Triple by 2050," USA Today, February 12, 2008, http://usatoday 30.usatoday.com/news/nation/2008-02-11-populationstudy\_N.htm.
- Jeffrey Humphreys, "The Multicultural Economy 2013," Terry College of Business Selig Center for Economic Growth (2013), http://www.latinocollaborative.com/ wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Multicultural-Economy-2013-SELIG-Center.pdf.
- "Asian Americans," Pew Research Center, n.d., http:// www.pewsocialtrends.org/asianamericans-graphics/.
- Jeff Humphreys, "UGA Report Breaks Down 'Buying Power' by Demographic," Atlanta Business Chronicle, April 9, 2018, https://www.bizjournals.com/atlanta/ news/2018/04/09/uga-report-breaks-down-buyingpower-by-demographic.html.
- Adweek, "Are You Winning with Hispanics?" April 27, 2011, http://www.adweek.com/sa-article/are-you-winninghispanics-131093.
- 41. Hunter Schwarz, "Most American Households Today Are Unmarried, and Only 15 Percent of Children Have a Stay-at-Home Parent," *The Washington Post,* January 28, 2015, https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/govbeat/ wp/2015/01/28/most-american-households-today-areunmarried-and-only-15-percent-of-children-have-a-stayat-home-parent/.
- 42. Alice LaPlante, "When Does Culture Matter in Marketing?" *Insights by Stanford Business*, November 1, 2005, https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/insights/when-doesculture-matter-marketing.
- 43. Adam Hermann, "Legislation Proposed by Delco State Representative Would Tax Mature Video Games in Pennsylvania," *Philly Voice*, October 25, 2018, https:// www.phillyvoice.com/mature-violent-video-game-taxpennsylvania-legislation-christopher-quinn-red-deadredemption-2/.
- 44. Christina Wilkie, "Top Lobbying Groups Spent \$64 Million to Influence Congress, White House," *The Huffington Post*, April 23, 2015, http://www.huffingtonpost. com/2015/04/23/lobbying-groups-gop\_n\_7130040. html; Tobias Burns, "Here's How Much TV Networks Would Miss All Those Viagra Ads," *TheStreet*, November 20, 2015, http://www.thestreet.com/story/13373304/1/ pharmaceutical-advertising-ban-could-infect-mediastocks-too.html.
- Federal Communications Commission, "Unwanted Telephone Marketing Calls," n.d., http://www.fcc.gov/guides/ unwanted-telephone-marketing-calls.
- Ron Lieber, "Consumers Are Dealt a New Hand in Credit Cards," *The New York Times*, May 19, 2009, http://www .nytimes.com/2009/05/20/your-money/20money.html.
- 47. Ali Breland, "Facebook, Amazon Hit Record Spending in Last Lobbying Quarter," *The Hill*, July 23, 2018, https:// thehill.com/policy/technology/398373-facebook-amazon-hitnew-capitol-hill-lobbying-records-amid-heightened.
- 48. Ben Weitzenkorn, "Disney World to Track Visitors with Wireless Wristbands," *NBC News*, January 8, 2013, http://www.nbcnews.com/travel/travelkit/disney-worldtrack-visitors-wireless-wristbands-1B7874882.

- Rakesh Kochhar, "10 Projections for the Global Population in 2050," Pew Research Center, February 3, 2014, http:// www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2014/02/03/10-projections-forthe-global-population-in-2050/.
- Raynor de Best, "EUR/USD FX Rate, Up until April 29, 2022," Statista, May 2, 2022, https://www.statista.com/ statistics/412794/euro-to-u-s-dollar-annual-averageexchange-rate/.
- Kasia Klimasinska, "U.S.'s Lew Says There's Still Room for China's Yuan to Increase," Bloomberg, October 19, 2015, http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/ 2015-10-19/u-s-s-lew-says-there-s-still-room-for-chinas-yuan-to-increase.
- 52. Heather Long, "U.S., Canada and Mexico Just Reached a Sweeping New NAFTA Deal. Here's What's in It," *The Washington Post*, October 1, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2018/10/01/us-canadamexico-just-reached-sweeping-new-nafta-deal-hereswhats-it/?utm\_term=.8908113a240b.
- 53. Export.Gov, http://www.export.gov/fta/cafta-dr/.
- 54. Aaron O'Neill, "Share of the EU in the Global Gross Domestic Product Adjusted for Purchasing Power," *Statista*, November 24, 2021, https://www.statista.com/ statistics/253512/share-of-the-eu-in-the-inflation-adjustedglobal-gross-domestic-product/.
- 55. International Monetary Fund, "The IMF at a Glance," August 22, 2012, http://www.imf.org/external/np/exr/ facts/glance.htm.

- ABC News, "Burger King Ad Outrages Hindus," July 7, 2009, http://abclocal.go.com/kgo/story?section=news/ national\_world&id=6904129.
- Terence A. Shimp and Subhash Sharma, "Consumer Ethnocentrism: Construction and Validation of the CETSCALE," *Journal of Marketing Research* 24 (August 1987): 280–289.
- F. Duke Haddad, "Are There Too Many Nonprofit Organizations in the US?" *NonProfit PRO*, October 20, 2017, https://www.nonprofitpro.com/post/many-nonprofitorganizations-us/.
- 59. Holly Hall, "Americans Gave a Lot Less in the Recession Than Experts Predicted," *The Chronicle of Philanthropy*, April 22, 2011, http://philanthropy.com/article/ Americans-Gave-a-Lot-Less-in/127244/.
- 60. Kristen L. Dugdale, "University of Colorado Foundation," *Crescendo*, n.d., http://cals.giftlegacy.com/egifts.jsp.
- Grant Williams, "Nonprofit Groups Try to Block New York Charitable-Deduction Limit," *The Chronicle of Philanthropy*, June 29, 2010, http://philanthropy.com/article/Nonprofit-Groups-Try-to-Block/66085/.
- 62. David Bogoslaw, "Boomers' Shrunken 401(k)s Spark Interest in Reverse Mortgages," *Bloomberg Businessweek,* October 7, 2010, http://www.businessweek.com/investor/ content/oct2010/pi2010107\_409429.htm.

**Design elements:** Question mark icon: McGraw Hill Education; Marginal globe icon: McGraw Hill Education; Social Media box icon: McGraw Hill Education; Marketing Analytics marginal icon: McGraw Hill Education; Marketing Insights Podcast icon: vandame/Shutterstock



# Supporting Faculty Every Step of the Way

*"A reliable partner in building engaging learning experiences."* Hear more from instructors »

Developing an engaging learning experience is more challenging than ever before, but you are not alone. Join the tens-of-thousands of instructors who confidently partner with McGraw Hill's support community to tailor their courseware design to maximize outcomes for students.











OLC Partnership

1:1 Peer Consultation

Implementation Team

Local Support Team

24/7 Product Support

# Reliable partners and resultsfocused design

- McGraw Hill's partnership with the Online Learning Consortium (OLC) strengthens our partnership with you.
- Access to a dedicated Implementation Consultant certified in quality course design by the OLC to assist in designing your course.
- Local team to ensure the unique needs of you and your students are met.

# Personalized support at every step

- Network of instructors available to provide peer-to-peer support in your course area.
- On-demand course set-up and delivery resources available to you in our platforms and at supportateverystep.com.
- Instructionally designed OLCaligned courseware and disciplinespecific guides to help you create an engaging course, easily.



# **Thank You**

Our goal is to build the best possible principles of marketing product, one that captures the importance and relevance of marketing to students both in and outside of business.

The ability to utilize marketing to improve for-profit businesses, not-for-profit organizations, and one's own career prospects are critical activities relevant to **all students**, regardless of their area of focus.

Marketing will inspire your students to explore and apply the skills they need for success in future coursework and careers...

# because everyone is a marketer!

**Shane Hunt** *Idaho State University*  John Mello Arkansas State University **George Deitz** University of Memphis



Click <u>here</u> to learn more about all McGraw-Hill Marketing titles. <u>Contact</u> your McGraw-Hill Learning Technology Representative for more details.